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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of Hemostemix Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hemostemix Inc., which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the consolidated statements of
loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity (deficiency) and cash flows for the years then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Hemostemix Inc. as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Emphasis of Matter
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which highlights
the existence of a material uncertainty relating to conditions that cast significant doubt on Hemostemix Inc.'s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Mississauga, Ontario
April 30, 2018

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Hemostemix Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
December 31,
2017
Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Short term investments
HST receivable
Other receivables and prepaid expenses

$

$

5,302,488
1

Equipment, net (note 5)
Intangible assets, net (note 6)

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (notes 7, 14 and 15)
Income taxes payable
Demand notes payable (note 8b)
Convertible promissory notes payable (note 8c)
Derivative liability (note 8d)

3,958,703
1,254,659
27,085
62,041

December 31,
2016

34,834
16,012
74,427
125,273
101,837
1

$

5,302,489

$

227,111

$

464,792
-

$

1,518,040
4,805
500,000
578,508
775,325

Convertible debenture payable (note 8d)

Shareholders’ Equity (Deficiency)
Share capital (note 9)
Warrants (note 10)
Contributed surplus (note 11)
Equity portion of convertible debt (note 12)
Deficit

$

464,792
-

3,376,678
312,659

464,792

3,689,337

30,741,184
3,227,777
1,284,758
(30,416,022)

22,097,981
848,697
72,207
(26,481,111)

4,837,697

(3,462,226)

5,302,489

$

227,111

Going concern (note 1)
Commitments and contingencies (note 14)
Subsequent events (note 18)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Approved by the Board:
Signed: “David Wood”

Signed: “Angus Jenkins”

Director, David Wood

Director, Angus Jenkins
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Hemostemix Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars, except per share and number of shares amounts)
2017
$

2016
(Note 4)
$

60,262
850,193
454,261
68,845
1,294,009
82,659
979,833
(74,676)
158,987
411,944
(775,325)

178,643
1,348,725
232,105
817,048
37,386
74,440
19,188
2,297
46,290

Net loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Recovery for income taxes (note 13)

(3,510,992)
(60,155)

(2,756,122)
(26,030)

Net loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (note 4)

(3,450,837)
(484,074)

(2,730,092)
(1,054,420)

Net loss and comprehensive loss

(3,934,911)

(3,784,512)

Expenses
Research and development consulting fees
Consultant fees (note 14 and 15)
Stock compensation expense (note 11)
Lease and office maintenance
Professional fees (note 9e)
Travel expenses
Accretion expense (note 8c, d and 12)
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Interest expense, net (note 8)
Loss on settlement of debt (note 9b and 9g)
Change in fair value of derivative (note 8d)

Net Loss per share
Basic and diluted from continuing operations
Basic and diluted from discontinued operations
Weighted average number of shares - basic and diluted

(0.02)
(0.00)
139,538,260

(0.04)
(0.02)
67,409,376

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Hemostemix Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficiency)
For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars, except for number of shares)
Number
of Shares

Balance, December 31, 2015
Exercise of share options (note 9a)
Equity component of promissory notes (note 9b)
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year

67,098,119
760,000
-

Share
Capital
$

Warrants
$

21,952,821
145,160
-

-

-

917,857
(69,160)
-

-

-

Deficit
$

Total
$

72,207

(22,696,599)
-

174,079
76,000
72,207

-

(3,784,512)

(3,784,512)

(26,481,111)
-

(3,462,226)
412,500
644,000
166,845
5,307,585
1,063,751
4,400,000

(3,227,777)
866,435
38,200
(1,100,543)
-

3,227,777
-

454,261
(18,200)
-

-

(3,934,911)

866,435
454,261
20,000
(1,100,543)
(3,934,911)

Balance, December 31, 2017

30,741,184

3,227,777

1,284,758

-

(30,416,022)

4,837,697

-

848,697
-

Equity Portion
of Debt
$

Balance, December 31, 2016
67,858,119
Conversion of demand notes payable [note 9b]
2,500,000
Conversion of promissory notes payable [note 9b]
4,025,000
Issuance of convertible secured debt facilities [note 8d]
Shares issued pursuant to Right of First Refusal [note 9b] 200,000
Shares issued pursuant to Private Placement [note 9c] 106,151,700
Shares issued pursuant to Rights Offering [note 9d]
21,275,015
Shares issued for Secured Credit [note 8a and 9e]
88,000,000
Warrants issued pursuant to Private Placement, Rights
Offering and Secured Credit transaction [note 9f]
Shares issued for debt [note 9g]
6,664,886
Share options issued [note 11]
Exercise of share options [note 9h]
200,000
Share issue costs [note 9i]
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year
296,874,720

22,097,981
412,500
716,207
5,307,585
1,063,751
4,566,845

Contributed
Surplus
$

72,207
(72,207)
166,845
(166,845)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Hemostemix Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
2017

Cash flow from operating activities
Net loss from continuing operations
Items not affecting cash:
Stock compensation expense
Accretion expense (note 8c,d)

$

2016
(Note 4)
$

(3,450,837)

(2,730,092)

454,261
979,833

74,440

Interest expense reimbursed in secured credit transaction (note 9e)
172,390
Loss on settlement of debt (note 9b and 9g)
411,944
Change in fair value of derivative (note 8d)
(775,325)
Professional fees reimbursed in secured credit transaction (note 9e) 1,020,905
Deferred income tax recovery ( note 13)
(60,155)
Change in non-cash working capital items:
Purchase of short term investments
(1,254,659)
Other receivables and prepaid expenses
12,386
HST receivable
58,521
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
(395,462)
Income taxes payable
(4,805)
Cash flow from continuing operations
(2,831,003)

46,290
(26,030)
58,026
2,900
902,507
(2,392)
(1,674,351)

Cash flow from discontinued operations (note 4)

(382,237)

(1,015,864)

(3,213,240)

(2,690,215)

Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of equipment
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of demand notes
Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissory notes
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debenture
Advances from secured credit facility
Proceeds from private placements, rights offering, secured credit
and shares for debt transactions, net of issuance costs
Exercise of share options

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

-

(1,532)

1,250,000

500,000
644,000
1,000,000
-

5,867,109
20,000

76,000

7,137,109

2,220,000

3,923,869

(471,747)

34,834

506,581

3,958,703

34,834

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1. Nature of the Company and Going Concern
Hemostemix Inc. (“Hemostemix” or “the Company”) is a biotechnology company whose principal
business is to develop, manufacture and commercialize blood-derived cell therapies for medical
conditions not adequately addressed by current treatments. Hemostemix Inc., an entity under the
Business Corporations Act (Alberta) was formed in November 2014. The Company’s head office is
located at 1049, 150 – 9th Ave SW Calgary, AB T2P 3H9.
Hemostemix Inc. has two wholly-owned subsidiaries. Kwalata Trading Ltd, incorporated under the
laws of Cyprus, was established to own intellectual property ("IP”). Hemostemix Ltd, another whollyowned subsidiary was incorporated under the laws of Israel. Effective October 1, 2017, Hemostemix
Ltd. ceased operations. [see note 4]
The Company incurred a net loss of $3,934,911 for the year (2016 - $3,784,512) and had accumulated
deficit as of December 31, 2017, of $30,416,022 (2016 - $26,481,111). Recurring sources of revenue
have not yet proven to be sufficient, as the Company’s biotechnology is at an early stage and the
Company has not achieved operational profitability and positive cash flows.
These conditions raise significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue operating as a going
concern. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect any events
since December 31, 2017 or the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of
assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from this uncertainty.
The Company's ability to continue to operate is dependent upon continuing financial support. During
2017, the Company completed several transactions to raise financing and restructure its debt.
On January 25, 2017, the Company converted $1,144,000 in debt with the issuance of 6,525,000
common shares of the Company and converted $40,000 pursuant to a right of first refusal agreement
resulting in a further issuance of 200,000 shares.
On September 15, 2017, the Company completed a series of financings including a brokered and nonbrokered private placement, rights offering, secured credit transaction and a series of shares for debt
transactions with the Company’s creditors through the issuance of common shares. Collectively, the
Company generated gross proceeds of $11,138,327, aggregating $5,307,585 from the private
placements, $1,063,751 from the rights offering, $4,400,000 from the secured credit transaction and
$366,991 from shares issued for debt. The financings resulted in the Company issuing a total of
222,091,601 common shares aggregating 106,151,700 pursuant to the private placement, 21,275,015
pursuant to the rights offering, 88,000,000 pursuant to the secured credit transaction and 6,664,886
pursuant to the shares for debt transaction.
During 2016 the Company raised proceeds of $2,144,000 from the issuance of debt which was
satisfied in full upon the completion of the series of financings on September 15, 2017 noted above.
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on
April 30, 2018.
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Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”).
Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair value.
Consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Kwalata Trading Ltd. and Hemostemix Ltd. The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of companies that are controlled by the Company (subsidiaries).
Control is determined when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date control is
obtained until the date control ceases. Effective October 1, 2017, Hemostemix Ltd. ceased operations
in Israel and moved its clinical trial activities to North America. The operating results of its activities
in Israel have been presented as a discontinued operation.
These consolidated financial statements of the Company and of the subsidiaries are prepared as of the
same dates and periods. The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting
policies by the Company and all subsidiaries. Significant intragroup balances and transactions and
gains or losses resulting from intragroup transactions are eliminated in full in the consolidated
financial statements.
Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company's
functional and presentation currency. Each subsidiary determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
The functional currency of the subsidiaries is Canadian dollars. Transactions denominated in foreign
currency (other than the functional currency) are recorded on initial recognition at the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. After initial recognition, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currency are translated at the end of each reporting period into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at that date. Exchange differences, other than those capitalized to qualifying assets or
recorded in equity in hedging transactions, are recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities measured at cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and measured at fair
value are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined.
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Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Segment reporting
The Company’s CEO is identified as the chief operating decision maker. The CEO evaluates the
performance of the Company and allocates resources based on the information provided by the
Company’s management system. The Company has determined that it only has one operating
segment. The Company has current assets of $20,238 (2016 - $67,901) and non-current assets of
$Nil (2016 - $101,837) located in Israel, the remaining assets are located in Canada.
Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of these consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from estimates made in these
consolidated financial statements. Areas where estimates are significant to these consolidated
financial statements are as follows;
i)

The estimates used in determining the fair value for the derivative liability, which is
composed of estimates made by management in determining the appropriate input
variables in the option pricing valuation model as disclosed in Note 8.

ii)

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date on which they are granted.
Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most
appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant.
This estimate also requires the determination of the most appropriate inputs to the
valuation model including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend
yield and making assumptions about them which are disclosed in Note 11.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments of the Company consist of cash and cash equivalents, short term
investements, other receivables and accounts payable and accrued expenses, demand notes payable,
convertible notes payable, derivative liability and convertible debenture payable.
Financial assets
All financial assets are recognized and derecognized on the trade date, where their purchase or
sale are under a contract whose terms require delivering the financial asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction
costs, except for financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially
measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:
financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (“FVTPL”), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments,
‘available-for-sale’ (“AFS”) financial assets, and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. The Company does not currently have any financial assets in the held-to-maturity
or available-for-sale categories.
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Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Financial instruments - continued
Other receivables having fixed or determinable payments and not quoted in an active market are
classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables for which recognizing interest would be
immaterial.
The Company assesses financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, for indicators of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after initially recognizing the financial asset, the
investment’s estimated future cash flows have been affected. Objective evidence of impairment
could include significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty, default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments, or it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organization.
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. For trade receivables, the carrying
amount is reduced through an allowance account.
Financial liabilities
The Company classifies financial liabilities as either financial liabilities at ‘FVTPL’ or ‘other
financial liabilities’. Other financial liabilities, consisting of accounts payable and accrued
expenses, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, recognizing interest expense on an
effective yield basis.
The Company’s financial instruments consist of the following:
Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and receivables

Short term investments

Loans and receivables

Other receivables

Loans and receivables

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Other financial liabilities

Demand notes payable

Other financial liabilities

Convertible notes payable

Other financial liabilities

Convertible debenture payable

Other financial liabilities

Derivative liability

Fair value through profit and loss

Financial instruments recorded at fair value in the unaudited statement of financial position are
classified according to a three-level hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the fair value measurements. The financial instruments that are measured at fair value
subsequent to initial recognition, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair
value is observable:
8

Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Financial instruments - continued
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities using the last bid price;
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include
inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
The derivative liability is classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash plus highly liquid assets with an original term to
maturity of three months or less.
Short term investments
Short term investments consist of guaranteed investment certificates with a term to maturity of
greater than three months but less than one year and are held for the purpose of meeting short term
cash commitments.
Research and development costs
The Company expenses amounts paid for intellectual property, development and production
expenditures as they are incurred. However, such costs are deferred and recorded in intangible assets
when they meet generally accepted criteria, to the extent that their recovery can reasonably be
regarded as assured.
The costs must meet the following criteria to be deferred: the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; the intention to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it; the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; the probability of future
economic benefits; the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete
the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and the ability to reliably measure the
expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Once those criteria are met, the future costs, such as costs to obtain patent or trademark protection
over the developed technologies, will be capitalized. These costs are then amortized over their
expected useful lives. To date it has not been demonstrated that these expenditures will generate or
be able to be used to generate probable future economic benefits.
Equipment
Equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. These assets
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the following annual rates and methods:
Computers and equipment
Office furniture and equipment

33%
7% - 15%

declining balance
declining balance
9

Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amount of the Company’s non-financial assets (which include equipment and
intangibles) is reviewed at each financial reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognized in profit and loss for the year.
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs.
An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer
exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount;
however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognized in previous years. An impairment loss with respect to goodwill is
never reversed.
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for
impairment.
Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The amount recognized as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account risks and uncertainty of cash flow.
Share-based compensation
The Company measures equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is calculated using the
Black-Scholes option valuation model and is expensed on a graded vesting basis over the vesting
period, based on the Company’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, and
credited to contributed surplus. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognized in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus. When options are exercised, the
proceeds together with the amount originally credited to contributed surplus are credited to
share capital.
The use of the Black-Scholes model requires inputting a number of assumptions, including expected
dividend yield, expected share price volatility, forfeiture rate, expected time until exercise and risk
free interest rate. Although the assumptions used reflect management’s best estimates, they involve
inherent uncertainties based on conditions outside of the Company’s control. If other assumptions
were used, share-based compensation could be significantly impacted.
10

Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit
or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is
recognized in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years. Tax on income is accrued using the tax rate that would be applicable to
expected total annual earnings.
Deferred taxes
Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Company is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset tax
assets against tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Company intends to settle its tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

11

Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Loss per share
Loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Common stock equivalents are excluded
from the computation of diluted loss per share when their effect is anti-dilutive. For the periods
presented, the potentially dilutive effect of stock options, warrants and the convertible instruments
have proved to be anti-dilutive.
Standards issued and not yet adopted
The following are not expected to be adopted prior to their effective dates and are being evaluated to
determine their impact on the Company.
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments was issued by the IASB to establish principles for the
financial reporting of financial assets and liabilities, including requirements to present certain
information relating to the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of the entity’s future cash flows.
This standard is mandatorily effective from January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted.
The Company intends to adopt the standard when it becomes effective. The Company has
completed its assessment and there will be no significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2018 and provides new requirements for recognizing revenue. IFRS 15's
core principle is for a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or
services to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which the company expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. IFRS 15 sets out enhanced disclosures
about revenue, provides guidance for transactions that were not previously addressed
comprehensively and improves guidance for multiple-element arrangements. The Company
intends to adopt the new Standard on its effective date and has yet to consider the impact on its
financial reporting. As the Company is not currently earning revenue there is no impact on its
financial reporting.
IFRS 16 -Leases
IFRS 16 - Leases sets out a new model for lease accounting, replacing IAS 17. IFRS 16 will be
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 specifies how a
reporter will recognize, measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee
accounting model, requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease
term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Early adoption will be permitted,
provided the Company has adopted IFRS 15. The Company intends to adopt the new Standard on its
effective date and has yet to consider the impact on its financial reporting.
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3. Reverse Take-over Transaction (“RTO”)
During 2014, the Company completed a reverse takeover transaction pursuant to which Technical
Ventures RX Corp., a public company closed a qualifying transaction with Theravitae Inc. and the
two parties amalgamated to form a new entity under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) called
"Hemostemix Inc." (“the Company”). The TSX Venture Exchange accepted the filing of the
Company’s Qualifying Transaction effective November 27, 2014, resulting in the shares of the
Company beginning to trade on the Exchange under the symbol “HEM”.
Pursuant to the transaction all outstanding Technical Ventures RX Corp. securities were exchanged for
securities on the new entity on a one for five basis; and all outstanding Theravitae Inc. securities were
exchanged on a one for ten basis.
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4. Discontinued Operations
On October 1, 2017, the Company ceased its operations in Israel and moved its clinical trial activities
to North America. The operating results of its activities in Israel have been presented as a
discontinued operation.
The following table summarizes the Israel activities as classified as discontinued operations for the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Operating expenses
Depreciation
Write down of equipment
Loss from discontinued operations before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

December 31,
2017
$

December 31,
2016
$

380,986
28,671
73,166
482,823
1,251

1,000,129
38,556
1,038,685
15,735

(484,074)

(1,054,420)

The Israel operations had current assets of $20,238 as at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 $67,901) and current liabilities of $11,727 as at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 - $186,008).
The net book value of equipment at December 31, 2017 was $Nil (December 31, 2016 - $101,837)
after recording a write down of equipment on October 1, 2017 of $73,166.
The following table summarizes the net cash flow attributable to the discontinued operations for the
year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
December 31,
2017
$

December 31,
2016
$

Net loss
Items not affecting cash:
Depreciation expense
Write down of equipment

(484,074)

(1,054,420)

28,671
73,166

38,556
-

Cash flows from operating activities

(382,237)

(1,015,864)
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5. Equipment
Computers
and equipment

Office furniture
and equipment

Total

Cost
As at December 31, 2015
Additions

$

34,857
1,532

$

227,562
-

$

262,419
1,532

As at December 31, 2016
Write down of equipment

$

36,389
(38,389)

$

227,562
(227,562)

$

263,951
(263,961)

As at December 31, 2017

$

-

$

-

$

Accumulated depreciation
As at December 31, 2015
Depreciation

$

12,379
3,326

$

111,179
35,230

$

123,558
38,556

As at December 31, 2016
Depreciation
Write down of equipment

$

15,705
2,251
(17,956)

$

146,409
26,420
(172,829)

$

162,114
28,671
(190,785)

As at December 31, 2017

$

-

$

-

$

-

Net book value
As at December 31, 2017

$

-

$

-

$

-

As at December 31, 2016

$

20,684

$

81,153

$

101,837

-

On October 1, 2017, the Company’s Israel subsidiary which held the equipment ceased operations.
Depreciation for the period January 1, 2017 to September 30, 2017 was $28,671. At September 30, 2017,
the net book value of equipment of $73,166 was written down to $nil. The equipment was given to the
landlord towards settlement of leased premised obligations.
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6. Intangible Assets
Proprietary Protection - The Company’s intellectual property is protected by several issued patents
grouped together in five patent families, which currently have a carrying value of $1 (2016 - $1).
Additional provisional patent applications have been filed and patents continue to be pursued in
additional jurisdictions; however, the Company has determined that none of these costs meet their
criteria for deferral (2016 - $Nil).
The five patent families are:
Family Patent

Status

Title

1

Granted in several countries
including in the US
Pending in Canada

In vitro techniques for use
with stem cells

2

Granted in Canada and Singapore
Pending in several countries, to
be filed in US

Production from blood of
cells of neural lineage

3

Granted in Singapore
Pending in Canada, Europe and
US

Regulating stem cells

4

Granted in several counties
including the US and Canada
Pending in Europe

Regulating stem cells

5

Granted Mexico, Singapore

Automated cell therapy

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
December 31
2017
Accounts payable
Employee and payroll accruals
Accrued expenses

December 31
2016

$

412,046
52,746

$

953,403
139,130
425,507

$

464,792

$

1,518,040
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8. Loans and Borrowings
(a) Secured Credit Facility:
On January 25, 2017, the Company secured a demand loan agreement providing initially for $750,000
in funding at an annual rate of 12% compounded and payable (interest only) monthly. This facility was
subsequently increased and advances totaling $1,250,000 were made to the Company. Interest expense
of $172,390 was recorded in the year ended December 31, 2017.
On September 15, 2017, pursuant to a secured credit transaction, the Company issued 88,000,000
common shares at a price of $0.05 for $4,400,000. As part of this transaction, the advances of
$1,250,000 were considered repaid. [see note 9e]
(b) Demand notes payable consist of the following:

Demand notes payable

December 31
2017
$

-

December 31
2016
$

500,000

In 2016, the Company received total proceeds of $500,000 from the issuance of notes payable. Interest
accrues at a rate of 5% per annum, compounded and payable monthly.
On January 25, 2017, the Company converted these $500,000 of demand notes at $0.20 per share
resulting in the issuance of 2,500,000 common shares [see note 9b]. The Company recorded a gain on
settlement of this debt in the amount of $87,500 representing the difference between the fair value of
the equity issued and the fair value of the debt on the date of conversion.
(c) Convertible promissory notes payable consists of the following:
December 31
2017
Face value of convertible promissory notes upon issuance
$
Less: discount
Book value of convertible promissory notes on initial recognition
Accumulated accretion expense

644,000
(98,237)
545,763
98,237

Conversion of notes payable into common shares

644,000
(644,000)

Balance at end of year

$

-

December 31
2016
$

644,000
(98,237)
545,763
32,745
578,508
$

578,508

In 2016, the Company closed a private placement offering for gross proceeds of $1,644,000. The private
placement included a $1,000,000 secured convertible debenture [see note 8d] and $644,000 convertible
promissory notes payable, including $464,000 advanced from insiders of the Company.

17

Hemostemix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

8. Loans and Borrowings - continued
The Company allocated the total proceeds received between the promissory notes payable and equity to
account for the conversion feature. The fair value of the promissory notes was deemed to be $545,763.
The residual value of $98,237 was allocated to equity [see note 12].
On January 25, 2017, the Company converted $644,000 of these promissory notes at $0.16 per share
resulting in the issuance of 4,025,000 Shares. [see note 9b] Accretion expense for the year was $65,492
representing the interest that was fully accreted up to the full discount.
(d) Convertible debenture payable consists of the following:

Face value of convertible debenture upon issuance
Less: Fair value of derivative liability
Book value of convertible debenture on initial recognition
Accumulated accretion expense

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

$

$

1,000,000
(1,000,000)

Extinguishment of convertible debenture payable
Balance, end of year

1,000,000
(729,035)
270,965
729,035

$

-

1,000,000
(729,035)
270,965
41,694
312,659
-

$

312,659

On September 2, 2016, the Company received proceeds of $1,000,000 from the issuance of a
convertible debenture. The debenture was non-interest bearing and due on September 2, 2019. The
debenture was convertible into units of the Company at a conversion price of $0.16 per unit. The
conversion feature was recorded as a derivative liability, as the exercise price could be adjusted upon
the issuance or deemed issuance of additional common shares at a price less than the conversion price
contained in the convertible debenture.
The fair value of the derivative liability upon issuance was $729,035 and the residual value of $270,965
was allocated to the convertible debenture payable. The derivative liability of $729,035 was re-valued
at $775,325 as at December 31, 2016.
On May 4, 2017, the Company entered into a convertible secured debt agreement to provide facilities up
to $4,400,000. As a result, the previous $1,000,000 convertible debenture was extinguished and
included in the new facility. Upon extinguishment of the convertible debenture, the Company
recognized a gain on the extinguishment of the derivative liability of $775,325, included in the change
in fair value of derivative liability on the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss [see
note 9e]. Accretion expense for the year was $687,341 representing the interest that was fully accreted
up to the face value of the convertible debenture.
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8. Loans and Borrowings - continued
The $4,400,000 convertible secured debt facilities bore interest at 12% per annum and matures on May
4, 2018. The convertible secured debt facilities were convertible into units of the Company at a
conversion price of $0.05 per unit. The Company allocated the total proceeds received between the
convertible loan facilities and equity to account for the conversion feature. The fair value of the
promissory note was determined using a discount rate of 20%. The residual value of $166,845 was
allocated to equity, net of deferred tax recovery of $60,155 [see note 13].
On September 15, 2017, the convertible secured debt facilities were converted into units at $0.05 per
unit as part of the secured credit transaction [see note 9e]. Accretion expense for the year was $227,000
representing the interest that was fully accreted up to the face value of the convertible secured debt
facilities. The residual value of $227,000 net of deferred tax recovery of $60,155 or $166,845 was
transferred to share capital [see note 12].

9. Share Capital
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares designated as Common Shares and
an unlimited number of shares designated as Preferred Shares.
Common Shares
Number of
Shares
#

Amount
$

67,098,119

$ 21,952,821

Share options exercised (a)
Balance, December 31, 2016
Conversion of demand notes payable (b)
Conversion of promissory notes payable (b)
Shares issued pursuant to ROFR agreement (b)
Shares issued pursuant to private placements (c)
Shares issued pursuant to rights offering (d)
Shares issued pursuant to secured credit transaction (e)
Value of warrants issued on private placements,
Rights offering and secured credit transaction (f)
Shares issued for debt (g)
Share options exercised (h)
Share issue costs (i)

760,000
67,858,119
2,500,000
4,025,000
200,000
106,151,700
21,275,015
88,000,000

145,160
22,097,981
412,500
716,207
5,307,585
1,063,751
4,566,845

6,664,886
200,000
-

(3,227,777)
866,435
38,200
(1,100,543)

Balance, December 31, 2017

296,874,720

30,741,184

Balance, December 31, 2015
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9. Share Capital - continued
(a) During 2016, 760,000 share options were exercised at a price of $0.10 a share for proceeds of $76,000.
An amount of $69,160 representing the fair value of the options exercised was transferred from
contributed surplus to share capital.
(b) On January 25, 2017, the Company converted $1,184,000 in debt with the issuance of 6,725,000
shares of the Company. The debt conversions included (a) $644,000 in promissory notes converted at
$0.16 per share resulting in the issuance of 4,025,000 Shares, (b) $500,000 of demand loans at $0.20
per share resulting in the issuance of a further 2,500,000 Shares and a gain on settlement of debt of
$87,500, and (c) $40,000 owed pursuant to a Right of First Refusal Waiver Agreement resulting in a
further issuance of 200,000 common shares which have been treated as share issuance costs.
On conversion of $644,000 in promissory notes, the equity component of the loan representing the
residual value of $98,237 net of deferred tax recovery of $26,030, or $72,207 was transferred to share
capital from equity portion of convertible debenture within equity.
(c) On September 15, 2017, as part of a brokered private placement the Company converted all
Subscription Receipts (initially issued on August 25, 2017) and issued 102,882,800 units at $0.05 per
unit for gross proceeds of $5,144,140, and as part of a non-brokered private placement issued
3,268,900 units at $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds of $163,445, amounting to total shares issued of
106,151,700 and for total gross proceeds of $5,307,585. Each unit consisted of one common share and
one-half common share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant exercisable for a period of 24
months with an exercise price of $0.20 per common share [note 10a].
(d)

On September 15, 2017 in connection with a Rights offering, the Company converted all
Subscriptions Receipts (initially issued on August 25, 2017) and raised gross proceeds of $1,063,751
through the issuance of 21,275,015 units at $0.05. Each unit consisted of one common shares and
one-half common share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant exercisable for a period of 24
months with an exercise price of $0.20 per common share [note 10a].
In connection with the brokered private placement and the Rights offering respectively, the
Company paid a cash commission of $370,148, as well as a corporate finance fee of $31,500.

(e)

On September 15, 2017 the Company completed a secured credit transaction consisting of converting
its senior secured debt into equity. Pursuant to this transaction, 88,000,000 units were issued at $0.05
for $4,400,000. Each unit consisted of one common share and one-half common share purchase
warrant, with each whole warrant exercisable for a period of 24 months with an exercise price of
$0.20 per common share [note 10a]. The secured credit transaction of $4,566,845 is comprised of the
following amounts:
• $1,250,000 advances under the secured credit facility. [see note 8a]
• $1,000,000 secured debenture. [see note 8d]
• $596,315 of share issuance costs paid directly by the secured creditor.
• $172,390 of net interest owing on secured credit facility.
• $1,020,905 legal and professional fees paid directly by the secured creditor.
• $219,586 of trade accounts payable and associated HST and GST.
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9. Share Capital - continued
• $140,804 of subscriptions receivable relating to the private placements.
• $166,845 representing the value of the conversion feature of the secured debt facilities which
was transferred to share capital from equity portion of convertible debenture.
(f)

The Company issued a total of 107,713,357 share purchase warrants, consisting of 51,441,400
pursuant to the brokered private placement, 1,634,450 pursuant to the non-brokered private
placement, 10,637,507 pursuant to the Rights offering and 44,000,000 pursuant to the secured credit
transaction. No warrants were issued pursuant to the shares for debt transactions. In addition, in
connection with the brokered private placement and the rights offering respectively, the Company
issued 7,879,961 agent warrants. [see note 10]
A reduction to share capital of $2,329,461 for investor warrants and $898,316 for agent warrants
totalling $3,227,777 was made to account for the original Black-Scholes value of these warrants with
a corresponding credit to warrants for the same amount. The fair value was calculated using the
Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: expected dividend yield of 0%, expected
volatility of 145%, risk-free interest rate of 1.81% and an average expected life of 2 to 3 years.

(g) On September 15, 2017, the Company completed a series of shares for debt transactions with certain
of the Company’s unsecured creditors by issuing common shares of the Company to such creditors
for full satisfaction of trade payables and other debts payable. The Company issued 5,540,000
common shares at $0.05 per share, and 1,124,886 common shares at $0.08 per share, amounting to
6,664,886 common shares for the satisfaction of a total of $366,991 in debt.
The fair value of the equity on the date of conversion of $866,435 was recorded as share capital and
the Company recorded a loss on settlement of this debt in the amount of $499,444 representing the
difference between the fair value of the equity issued and the carrying value of the debt of $366,991
on the date of conversion.
(h) During 2017, 200,000 share options were exercised at a price of $0.10 a share for proceeds of
$20,000. An amount of $18,200 representing the fair value of the options exercised was transferred
from contributed surplus to share capital.
(i)

The Company incurred a total of $1,100,543 share issuance costs including broker fees,
commissions, legal fees and corporate finance fees during 2017 relating to the private placements,
rights offering, secured credit transaction and share for debt transactions.
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10. Warrants
A summary of the status of the Company’s warrants as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 is
as follows:
December 31,
2017

Number of
warrants
#
Balance, beginning of year
Granted on financing (a)
Expired (b)
Balance, end of year

December 31,
2016
Weighted
average
exercise price
$

Number of
warrants
#
1,325,411

Weighted
average
exercise price
$

1,325,411

0.86

107,713,358

0.20

-

-

(630,500)

(1.25)

-

-

108,408,269

0.20

1,325,411

0.86

0.86

A summary of the status of the Company’s agent warrants as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as
follows:
December 31,
2017

Number of
agent
warrants
#
Balance, beginning of year
Granted on financing (a)
Expired (b)
Balance, end of year

December 31,
2016

Weighted
average
exercise price
$

Number of
agent
warrants
#
560,280

Weighted
average
exercise price
$

560,280

0.54

7,879,961

0.05

-

-

(17,500)

(1.25)

-

-

8,422,741

0.08

560,280

0.54

0.54
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10. Warrants - continued
a) The Company issued a total of 107,713,357 share purchase warrants, consisting of 51,441,400
pursuant to the brokered private placement, 1,634,450 pursuant to the non-brokered private
placement, 10,637,507 pursuant to the rights offering and 44,000,000 pursuant to the secured credit
transaction. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.20
per common share for a period of 2 years from the issuance date, with an accelerated exercise
provision attached to each warrant commencing on the day following the issue date and the expiry of
any hold period on the underlying common share, stating that if, for ten consecutive trading days, the
closing price of the listed shares of the Company exceeds $1.00, then the Company may elect to
accelerate the expiry date by providing the warrant holders 30 days’ notice by way of a press release
of the accelerated expiry date.
.

In addition, in connection with the brokered private placement and the rights offering respectively,
the Company issued 7,879,961 agent warrants. Each agent warrant entitles the agent to purchase one
unit, consisting of one common share and one-half of one share purchase warrant (“agent’s unit
warrants”), at an exercise price of $0.05 per unit exercisable for a period of 3 years from the issuance
date. Each whole agent’s unit warrant is exercisable into one common share at an exercise price per
$0.20 per common share for a period of 2 years from the date of issuance. The agent’s unit warrants
are subject to an accelerated exercise provision attached to each agent’s warrant commencing on the
day following the expiry of any applicable hold period on the underlying common share, stating that
if, for ten consecutive trading days, the closing price of the listed common shares of the Company
exceeds $1.00, then the Company may elect to accelerate the expiry date by providing the warrant
holders, 30 days written notice together with the issue of a press release of the accelerated expiry
date.
b) On December 2, 2017, 630,500 warrants and 17,500 investor warrants at price of $1.25 expired.
The exercise price and expiry date of all warrants outstanding as at December 31, 2017 are as
follows:
Warrants
1,159,911
77,780
107,713,358
7,879,961

Exercise Price
$
$
$
$

0.50
0.65
0.20
0.05

Expiry Date
November 27, 2019
December 2, 2020
September 15, 2019
September 15, 2020

116,831,010
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11. Share Options
December 31,
2017
Weighted
Number of average exercise
options
price
#
$

December 31,
2016
Weighted
Number of
average
options
exercise price
#
$

Balance, beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Cancelled

2,670,000
20,767,230
(200,000)
(250,000)
(1,550,000)

0.10
0.05
(0.10)
(0.10)
(0.10)

5,305,000
(760,000)
(1,875,000)

Balance, end of year

21,437,230

0.05

2,670,000

0.11
(0.10)
(0.12)
0.10

During 2016, 760,000 share options were exercised at a price of $0.10 for proceeds of $76,000.
1,775,000 share options at a price of $0.10 and 100,000 share options at a price of $0.50 totaling
1,875,000 share options expired.
Based on the financings completed on September 15, 2017, the Company granted stock options with
respect to an existing management agreement. 20,767,230 share options were granted at an exercise
price of $0.05 per share which vest over three years and are exercisable for a period of five years.
These options were granted pursuant to the Company’s existing incentive stock option plan and as
such be subject to the general terms of the Option Plan and all applicable policies of the TSX Venture
Exchange, including without limitation those that provide for maximum issuances to single
participants under the Option Plan in any 12-month period.
The fair value of all options was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions: expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 145%,
risk-free interest rates of 1.4%, and an average expected life of five years. The estimated fair value of
the granted options is $2,535,679. This amount is amortized over the vesting period and $454,261
has been expensed during the year ended December 31, 2017 (2016 - $nil).
In addition, during the year 1,800,000 share options at a price of $0.10 expired or cancelled, and
200,000 share options at $0.10 were exercised for proceeds of $20,000.
The following summarizes the shares options outstanding at December 31, 2017:
Number of
Exercise
Weighted average
Options
Price
remaining life
#
$
[years]
670,000
0.10
0.80
20,767,230
0.05
4.71
21,437,230
As at December 31, 2017, 670,000 share options were exercisable.
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12. Equity Portion of Convertible Debt
During 2016, the Company issued promissory notes totaling $644,000. The Company bifurcated the
equity component from the financial liability component. The value of the financial liability was
determined to be $545,763. The residual value of $98,237, net of deferred tax recovery of $26,030,
for an amount of $72,207 was allocated to equity. [see note 8c]
On January 25, 2017, the Company converted the $644,000 in promissory notes at $0.16 per share
resulting in the issuance of 4,025,000 Shares. [see note 9b] The residual value of $98,237 net of
deferred tax recovery of $26,030 or $72,207 was transferred to share capital.
On September 15, 2017, the secured debt facilities were converted into units at $0.05 per unit as part
of the secured credit transaction [see note 9e]. The value allocated to the conversion feature of
$227,000 net of deferred tax recovery of $60,155 or $166,845 was transferred to share capital.

13. Income taxes
The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate of
26.5% (2016 – 26.5%) to the effective tax rate is as follows:
2017

2016

Loss from continuing operations before provision for income taxes $ (3,450,837)

$ (2,730,092)

Expected income tax (recovery)
Other permanent differences
Loss on settlement of debt
Stock-based compensation
Undeducted share issue costs
Change in tax benefits not recognized
Provision for income taxes (recovery)

(930,410)
(18,035)
109,170
120,380
(291,640)
950,380
(60,155)

$

$

$

$

(730,372)
(1,192)
705,534
(26,030)

The Company’s income tax expense is allocated as follows:
Current tax expense
Deferred tax recovery

$

(60,155)

$

(26,030)

Provision for income taxes (recovery)

$

(60,155)

$

(26,030)
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13. Income taxes - continued
Deferred taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the differences
between the tax values and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognized in respect of the following deductible temporary differences:
Equipment
Share issuance costs
Cumulative eligible capital
Non-capital losses - Canada
Intangible assets - Cyprus

2017

2016

$
6,610
$ 1,115,083
$ 16,711,960
$ 19,643,200
$ 7,125,340

$
6,608
$
439,808
$ 9,586,618
$ 17,008,678
$ 6,707,347

The Canadian non-capital loss carry forwards expire as noted in the table below. Share issue and
financing costs will be fully amortized in 2020. The remaining deductible temporary differences may
be carried forward indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items
because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can
utilize the benefits therefrom.
The Company's Canadian non-capital income tax losses expire as follows:
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
Total

$

347,030
2,934,190
900,120
642,600
1,340,250
661,800
1,307,720
572,060
2,004,110
279,000
2,948,180
2,841,970
2,864,170
$ 19,643,200
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14. Commitments and Contingencies
Contingencies
In 2015, the Company was party to a claim made by a former officer and director related to share
options held in escrow. Management reached a settlement for $60,000 with this individual which
was paid during the year ended December 31, 2017. As at December 31, 2016, the Company
included $60,000 in accounts payable.
In 2015, the Company was party to a claim made by a former officer related to salary, bonus and
options. Management settled the claim on August 12, 2016 in the amount of $170,000 which has
been paid in full as of December 30, 2017.
In 2016, the Company was party to a claim made by a former officer and a company controlled by
this officer who have sued based on a historical consulting services agreement. The Company
disputes the amounts claimed but did not have the financial resources available to defend this
litigation in the ordinary course of business, and thus, this party has obtained a judgement in the total
amount $345,539. As a resolution to the judgement, the Company finalized a full and final
settlement with this party for $120,000, of which $60,000 was paid in cash and $60,000 was settled
by way of the issuance of 1,200,000 common shares at $0.05 included in shares for debt transaction
of $366,991 on September 15, 2017. [see note 9g].
Former Licensing Agreement
In 2015, the Company announced that it had formed a strategic alliance with Hemostemix Asia, Inc.
(“HEMA”), a private, independent company based in Taipei, Taiwan. The agreement covered a
manufacturing and commercial license to HEMA in Taiwan, China and South Korea.
On August 29, 2016, the Company announced that it has terminated this agreement with HEMA.
HEMA initially sued the Company over the termination of this agreement and was seeking
$50,000,000 in damages.
On August 17, 2017, the Company reached an agreement HEMA to definitively resolve all
outstanding matters with HEMA including the litigation against the Company being carried on by
HEMA. As part of the agreement, the Company has agreed to pay HEMA $217,000 by way of the
issuance of 4,340,000 common shares in the capital of the Company at $0.05 and is included in the
shares for debt transaction of $366,991 completed on September 15, 2017. [see note 9g]. HEMA
has released all claims against the Company. HEMA’s litigation has now been discontinued on a
without costs basis and the strategic alliance between the Company and HEMA has been terminated.
Commitments
Consulting Agreement
The Company entered an agreement with Topstone Research Inc. (“Topstone”) on September 8,
2017 to provide clinical research. The value payment for services to Topstone in the agreement is
approximately $1.7 million to be allocated over the 28-month span of the trial as the expenses are
incurred. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company paid Topstone $72,400.
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14. Commitments and Contingencies - continued
Management Agreement
Effective December 16, 2016, the Company entered into a Management Contractor Agreement to
oversee and manage a reorganization of the Company including the appointment of a new board of
directors and management team. The agreement has a term of two years and the contractor will be
compensated based on 15% of total operating expenses over the term of the agreement and options
to acquire 7% of the Company’s outstanding shares. [see note 11]

15. Related Party Balances and Transactions
Related party transactions are conducted on the terms and conditions agreed to by the related
parties. It is the Company’s policy to conduct all transactions and settle all balances with related
parties on market terms and conditions.
The following includes all compensation to key management personnel:
The Company incurred $915,656 in consulting fees to the CFO of the Company and the management
contractor, who is providing a Chief Executive Officer, accountant and technical consultant among
other services, during 2017. The management contractor was also reimbursed $103,819 in travel
expenses during 2017 (2016 - $495,569 in consulting fees to a director and officer and two other
officers one of which is a former director). As at December 31, 2017, the Company has $116,382 in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities owing to this management company and officer (December
31, 2016 - $194,698).
On January 25, 2017, the Company secured a credit facility providing and initial $750,000 in funding
at an annual rate of 12% compounded and payable (interest only) monthly from the company that is
the management contractor for Hemostemix. In early 2017, the management contractor assigned the
demand loan agreement and sold the related indebtedness of the Company to a company related to
the management contractor company of Hemostemix. The Company received an additional
$500,000 bringing total advances to $1,250,000. On September 15, 2017, as part of the secured
credit transaction, this debt was converted into common shares of the Company [see note 9e].
In 2016, the Company received proceeds of $1,000,000 from the issuance of a convertible debenture.
The debenture was acquired by the company that became the management contractor for
Hemostemix on December 22, 2016. In early 2017, the debenture was sold to a company related to
the management contractor company of Hemostemix. The debenture is non-interest bearing and due
on September 2, 2019. On September 15, 2017, as part of a series of the secured credit transaction,
this debenture was converted into common shares of the Company [see note 9e].
Proceeds of $76,000 were received from the exercise of 760,000 share options from 2 former
directors of the Company in 2016.
Proceeds from directors and shareholders in the form of promissory notes payable issued during
2016 amounted to $464,000. [see note 8c].
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16. Comparative Figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified for discontinued operations to conform with the
current year’s financial statement presentation. [see note 4]

17. Capital and Risk Management
Capital risk management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:
•

ensuring sufficient liquidity to support its financial obligations and execute its operating
and strategic plans;

•

maintaining healthy liquidity reserves and access to capital; and

•

minimizing the after-tax cost of capital while taking into consideration current and
future industry, market and economic risks and conditions.

To assess its effectiveness in managing capital, management monitors certain key ratios to ensure
they are within targeted ranges.
The Company defines its capital as its equity. Its capital management objectives and approach were
unchanged during the year.
Financial risk management
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
•

credit risk;

•

liquidity risk; and

•

market risk (including foreign currency and interest rate risk).
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17. Capital and Risk Management - continued
Financial risk management - continued
The Company’s financial risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks
faced by the Company, to set acceptable risk tolerance limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. The financial risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to
ensure they remain consistent with the objectives and risk tolerance acceptable to the Company and
current market trends and conditions. The Company, through its training and management standards
and procedures, aims to uphold a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are
summarized below:
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations associated with
financial liabilities. As at December 31, 2017, the Company has a working capital of $4,837,696
(2016 – d e f i c i e nc y $3,251,405). As at December 31, 2017, the Company has an accumulated
deficit of $30,416,022 (2016 - $26,481,111) and is not yet generating operating cash flows. The
Company believes that it mitigates its liquidity risks to an acceptable level. However, as
indicated in note 1, the Company intends on continuing to raise additional funds by way of
private placements and through share issuances as part of a publicly traded company, and through
the issuance of debt.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its obligations. The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and cash equivalents. This risk is mitigated by using reputable financial institutions from which
management believes the risk of loss to be remote.
Market risk
Interest rate risk arises because of the fluctuation in interest rates. The Company’s objective in
managing interest rate risk is to minimize the interest expense on liabilities and debt. The Company
does not believe that the results of operations or cash flows would be affected to any significant
degree by a sudden change in market interest rates as the Company does not have any
interest- b e a r i n g debt.
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18. Subsequent Events
Manufacturing Agreement
On February 22, 2018, Hemostemix announced that it has entered into a Manufacturing Agreement with
Aspire Health Science, LLC (“Aspire”) located in Orlando, Florida. The Manufacturing Agreement has
an initial one-year term with provisions to renew for additional six-month extensions. Basic charges and
pricing is fixed throughout the initial one-year term
License Agreement
On February 23, 2018, Hemostemix announced that it has entered into a License Agreement with Aspire
Health Science. Under the terms of the License Agreement, Aspire has the exclusive rights to use, sell
and import ACP-01 in The Bahamas, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, Mexico, Panama and the State
of Florida for the treatment of certain approved medical indications, namely Coronary Artery Disease
(CAD), Peripheral Artery Disease (PAD), CLI, Congestive Heart Failure (CHF) and such other
indications as may be designated by Hemostemix from time to time. Aspire will have related rights to
manufacture ACP-01 at its Orlando, Florida facilities for such purposes. Hemostemix will receive double
digit on net sales from all revenue generated from ACP-01 in the assigned territories. The License
Agreement has an initial three (3) year term, with options for Hemostemix to renew for additional two (2)
year extensions.
Expiry of Share Options
On April 17, 2018, 330,000 share purchase options, with and exercise price of $0.10 expired
Exercise of Agent Warrants
On April 20, 2018, the Company received $9,954 from the exercise of 199,079 agent’s warrants issued
pursuant to the 2017 Private Placement offering. The agent’s warrants were exercised into 199,079
common shares and 99,539 warrants.
On April 23, 2018 the Company received $26,643 from the exercise of 532,855 agent’s warrants issued
pursuant to the rights offering. The agent’s warrants were exercised into 532,855 common shares and
266,427 warrants.
Granting of Options
On April 27, 2018, the Company granted 6,300,000 options to directors, officers, employees and
consultants at an exercise price of $0.10 per common share. These options expire five years from the date
of grant and vest one-third on each of the first, second and third anniversaries from the date of grant.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND
FINANCIAL CONDITION
For the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 as at April 30, 2018
BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) covers the operations, financial
position and operating results of Hemostemix Inc. (the “Company”, “HEMOSTEMIX”, “we”, “us” or
“our”) for the year ended December 31, 2017. It is intended to help readers better understand the
operations and key financial results, as they are, in our opinion, at the date of this report and should be
read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 and the accompanying notes which have been prepared under
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The audited annual consolidated financial
statements have been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company and have been approved by its
Board of Directors on April 30, 2018. Additional information relating to the Company is available on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com as well as the Company’s website at www.hemostemix.com.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information and forward-looking statements, as defined in
applicable securities laws (collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These
statements relate to future events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than
statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “is expected”, “budget”,
“scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, “projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or
“believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such words and phrases, or state that certain actions,
events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The
forward-looking statements in this MD&A speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date
specified in such statement. Specifically, this MD&A includes, but is not limited to, forward-looking
statements regarding: the Company’s goal of creating shareholder value; its ability to meet its operating
costs for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018; the plans, costs, and timing for future research and
development of the Company’s stem cell technologies, including the costs and potential impact of
complying with existing and proposed laws and regulations and clinical trials; management’s outlook
regarding future trends; sensitivity analysis on financial instruments that may vary from amounts
disclosed; prices and price volatility the Company’s products; and general business and economic
conditions.
By their nature forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and
other factors which may cause actual results, events or developments to be materially different from any
future results, events or developments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such
factors include, among other things, the Company’s stage of development, long-term capital requirements
and future ability to fund operations, future developments in the Company’s markets and the markets in
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which it expects to compete, risks associated with its strategic alliances and the impact of entering new
markets on the Company’s operations. Each factor should be considered carefully, and readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. See “Risk Factors.”
These statements are essentially forward-looking and are subject to risks and uncertainties, as described in
the “Risks and Uncertainties” section, below. Actual results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements could differ materially from those projected, discussed or contemplated herein and are
dependent upon on several factors, including the successful and timely completion of research and
development initiatives, the uncertainties related to the market acceptance, and the commercialization of
our products thereafter.
The Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements,
resulting from additional or new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by
law.
THE COMPANY
Hemostemix Inc. is a biotechnology company whose principal business is to develop, manufacture and
commercialize blood-derived cell therapies for medical conditions not adequately addressed by current
treatments.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company comprise the accounts of Hemostemix Inc.,
(formerly Theravitae Inc.) Hemostemix Ltd, and Kwalata Trading Limited, the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Hemostemix Inc. was originally incorporated on May 6, 2006 under the provisions of the
Canada Business Corporations Act. Hemostemix Ltd. was incorporated on June 20, 2011 in Israel and
Kwalata Trading Limited (“Kwalata”) was incorporated on November 1, 2007 in Cyprus. Effective
October 1, 2017 Hemostemix Ltd. ceased operations (See ‘Discontinued Operations’). During 2014, the
Company completed a reverse takeover transaction to form a new entity under the Business Corporations
Act (Alberta) called "Hemostemix Inc." On November 27, 2014, shares of the Company began trading on
the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol “HEM”. The Company’s head office is located at Suite
1049, 150 – 9th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta T2P 3H9.
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
We are a clinical stage biotechnology company with a patented technology whose principal business is to
develop, manufacture and commercialize blood-derived cell therapies to treat various diseases not
adequately addressed by current therapies. Hemostemix has five families of patents related to its products
and manufacturing processes. The intellectual property of the company broadly covers synergetic cell
populations and angiogenic cell precursors (ACPs, including the lead cell product ACP-01), myocardial
cell precursors (MCPs), and neural cell precursors (NCPs).
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CORPORATE, PRODUCT AND CLINICAL TRIAL UPDATES
The following items highlight the Company’s activities during the year ended December 31, 2017 and any
subsequent development up until the date hereof.
Corporate Update
Reorganization
In December 2016, the Company announced the execution of a management contractor agreement
(“Management Agreement”) with Drive Capital, a private equity company focused on developing unique
business through technology innovation and implementing quality-based business management systems
elevating companies to unrealized potential. Pursuant to the agreement, Drive Capital is now overseeing
and managing all aspects of a corporate reorganization of Hemostemix. Drive Capital reports directly to
the Board and assists with the implementation of all corporate actions deemed necessary to ensure the
financial sustainability of Hemostemix. The agreement has a term of two years and Drive Capital will be
compensated based on 15% of the total operating expenses over the term of the agreement and options to
acquire common shares in the capital of the Company to be granted from time to time.
Board of Directors
In January 2017, the reorganization efforts continued with changes to our Board of Directors and the
appointment of new directors David L. Wood and Donald E. Friesen to fill two of the three vacancies on
the Board, while Angus Jenkins remained on the Board. The newly reconstituted Board confirmed that
Angus Jenkins would continue to serve as Chair of the Board. In addition, the Board re-established the
Company's Audit Committee and Corporate Governance & Compensation Committee, with all three of
the current directors serving on both committees and Mr. David L. Wood serving as Chair of both
committees.
Management
On February 8, 2017, the Company also announced that Dr. Elmar Burchardt had stepped down as
President and CEO. In accordance with the Management Agreement, the Board appointed Mr. Kyle
Makofka as Chief Restructuring Officer (“CRO”) in February 2017. In November 2017 Mr. Makofka
agreed to transition from the CRO role to become the new President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
of the Company with a view to ensuring the new strategic plan of the Company is executed.
During the year, the Company put in place a solid, experienced and talented management team to
progressively move forward. In particular, Dr. Ravi Jain, Ph.D., who has already provided support as a
consultant to the Company, joined the Company as its new Chief Scientific Officer (“CSO”) and Christy
Pifer joined the Company as Clinical Trial Manager (“CTM”). Further, it was announced that David
Berman will transition out of his role as Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), with Kristin Gulka transitioning
into that role. As Hemostemix consolidates its head office functions in Calgary, Mr. Berman has decided
to remain in Toronto. Mr. Berman has committed to continue in an advisory capacity until the conclusion
of the transition of the CFO role.
The Company announced on November 30, 2017 that Dr. Ina Sarel stepped down as Vice President
Research & Development. Dr. Sarel served as the Vice President Research & Development with the
business since 2011. Dr. Sarel’s former duties will now fall under the scope of responsibilities of the new
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Chief Scientific Officer, Dr. Ravi Jain.
Former Strategic Alliance Agreement
The Company announced on August 29, 2016 that it had voided a strategic alliance agreement with
Hemostemix Asia, Inc. (“HEMA”), a private, independent company based in Taipei, Taiwan. The
agreement covered a manufacturing and commercial license of the Hemostemix ACP-01 technology to
HEMA for treating critical limb ischemia patients in Taiwan, China, and South Korea. According to the
agreement, HEMA was to raise US$5 million toward the implementation of their business plan and
contribute up to 20 participants from three to five clinical trial sites in Taiwan to the ongoing Hemostemix
Phase II clinical trial for treating CLI. The agreement further designated Hemostemix as an equity partner
with 35% ownership in HEMA. These obligations were not met as required.
HEMA proceeded to sue the Company over the termination of this agreement and was seeking
$50,000,000 in damages.
On August 17, 2017, the Company reached an agreement with HEMA to definitively resolve all
outstanding matters with HEMA including the litigation against the Company being carried on by HEMA.
As part of the agreement, the Company has agreed to pay HEMA $217,000 which was satisfied through
the issuance of 4,340,000 common shares in the capital of the Company at $0.05 per common share,
which is included in the shares for debt transaction of $366,991 completed on September 15, 2017.
HEMA has released all claims against the Company. HEMA’s litigation has now been discontinued on a
without costs basis and the strategic alliance between the Company and HEMA has been terminated.
Product Update
Angogenic Cellular Precursor (ACP-01)
Our main product called Angogenic Cellular Precursor or ACP-01, is created from a process we
discovered and developed whereby a patient’s own blood is drawn, and stem cells from the blood draw are
raised and expanded, then reinjected into the patient’s diseased tissue. The cornerstone of this autologous
technology is a novel cell population within the blood called the synergetic cell population (“SCP”). The
synergetic cell population, which can be collected from a simple blood draw, consists of progenitor and
other supporting cells that are being developed for the treatment of ischemic diseases. This results in an
enhanced stem cell therapy treatment that restores circulation to tissues damaged by disease. Our process
for harvesting stem cells is less invasive than some other stem cell therapies on the market as the stem
cells are taken from a patient’s blood which is a simple process as compared to taking stem cells from
fatty tissue or bone marrow. Hemostemix’s proprietary technology includes methods for collecting the
synergetic cell population and manufacturing (isolation, enrichment and differentiation) a personalized
regenerative therapy that can be administered to a patient within 7 days of the initial cell collection.
Intellectual Property
Our proprietary technology is based on more than 10 years of clinical data demonstrating the ability of our
autologous cell product to regenerate diseased and damaged tissue, which has the potential to generate
therapies for a broad range of ischemic diseases such as critical limb ischemia, peripheral artery disease,
congestive heart failure and other vascular diseases. Hemostemix develops its cell therapy products from
a patient’s own blood which is a relatively low risk, cost effective and non-invasive source of therapeutic
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cells. Hemostemix is conducting a Phase II clinical trial for its lead product ACP-01 for treating critical
limb ischemia (“CLI”).
The Company continues to monitor its patent portfolio with the goal of protecting and expanding its
Intellectual Property. The company has over 50 patents and patent applications in more than 25
jurisdictions.
Clinical Trial Updates
Phase II Clinical Trial for Patients with Critical Limb Ischemia
Critical limb ischemia (“CLI”) is a severe blockage in the arteries of the lower extremities, which
markedly reduces blood-flow. It is a serious form of peripheral arterial disease (“PAD”). PAD is caused
by atherosclerosis, the hardening and narrowing of the arteries over time due to the buildup of fatty
deposits called plaque. CLI is a chronic condition that results in severe pain in the feet or toes due to
nerve and tissue damage. Complications of poor circulation can include sores and wounds that won't heal
in the legs and feet. Left untreated, the complications of CLI may result in the amputation of the affected
limb.
Most patients with CLI are treated surgically and depending on the severity, the surgery can be minimally
invasive (angioplasty or stents) to very invasive (bypass surgery, grafts or amputation). Our therapy
provides an alternative to surgery, which we believe is safer and more cost effective as no lengthy hospital
stay or recovery time is needed. The prevalence of CLI is increasing, as CLI predominately affects the
growing population aged 50 and older. According to The Sage Group LLC, in the United States alone,
approximately 20 million people are affected by PAD, and it is estimated that approximately 7-8 million
people in the United States and Europe suffer from CLI. The Sage Group LLC, estimates that in the
United States, medical costs attributable to CLI amount to US$25 billion annually.
The clinical trial is a randomized, placebo-controlled, double blind Phase II clinical trial to confirm the
safety and efficacy of ACP-01. Under the current USA Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and
Health Canada approved protocol approximately 95 patients will be followed for a minimum period of six
months and a maximum of twelve months. The first clinical trial site started in 2014 in Canada. A second
Canadian site was added in 2015 as well as three sites in South Africa.
In June 2016, the Company’s Phase II clinical trials of ACP-01 used in the treatment of CLI was
suspended. At the same time the agreement with a contract research organization managing these clinical
trials was terminated.
After the reorganization of Hemostemix in early 2017, the new management team actively reviewed and
evaluated proposals from various other contract research organizations with the goal of being prepared to
restart the clinical trial in an effective and efficient manner.
On September 8, 2017 the Company entered an agreement with Topstone Research Inc. (“Topstone”) to
provide clinical research monitoring services, project management, regulatory document management, and
related services to advance the Company’s international, multicenter, Phase II clinical trial for patients
with CLI. Topstone, is a Toronto, Ontario based global full-service contract research organization
(“CRO”) service provider.
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With the engagement of Topstone, the Company began actively identifying and selecting qualified clinical
trial sites in both Canada and the USA in October 2017. To date over 25 facilities and institutions have
been identified as having good potential to be sites for the clinical trial. The site onboarding process is
rigorous with the Company reviewing equipment, facilities, principal investigators, the estimated number
of potential patients as well as putting in place agreements, budgets, procedures and protocols. From the
clinical trial site perspective there are internal approvals of the Company’s clinical trial protocol,
agreement, overall budget and general procedures and equipment requirements. At this point there are
approximately 15 sites are in various stages of the onboarding process. As of the date herein, clinical trial
agreements have been executed with two clinical trial sites and a further five clinical trial sites have
approved the agreement pending final budget agreement.
It is anticipated that the trials will be conducted at approximately 20 sites located throughout Canada and
the United States. When the trials were suspended in 2016, there were a total of thirteen patients enrolled
in the trials at two sites in Canada. Management believes that these two sites and the majority of the
thirteen patients will be able to participate in the reactivated trial.
In the third quarter of 2017, amendments to the approved clinical trial protocol were submitted to the FDA
and Health Canada, which addressed the change in manufacturing sites (see “Manufacturing Agreement”)
and updated various protocol procedures.
On December 20, 2017 the Company announced that it received a No Objection Letter from Health
Canada the change in manufacturing site and protocol updates.
On April 19, 2018 the Company further announced that the FDA raised no objections to the Company’s
Investigational New Drug (“IND”) application.
Commercialization of ACP-01
To achieve commercial production of its lead product, ACP-01 for CLI, Hemostemix is required to obtain
regulatory approval in each respective country it intends to market ACP-01. Management believes it may
be possible to achieve regulatory approval in a few jurisdictions on the strength of positive Phase II data,
but in most jurisdictions, clinical data from a Phase III clinical trial will be required to obtain such
approval. While focusing on developing ACP-01 through the clinical trial process in the United States and
Canada, Hemostemix hopes to achieve commercialization alone or with partners in countries having a
suitable regulatory framework.
Manufacturing Agreement
As part of the overall review of Hemostemix, management reviewed the manufacturing laboratory
operations. The Company had a leased manufacturing laboratory facility in Israel. After a review of the
facility, operations, logistics and cost it was decided that a manufacturing laboratory closer to the clinical
trial sites in North America made sound business sense. In the first half of 2017 various options were
reviewed including having the Company continuing to run a dedicated site as well as outsourcing options.
In Q4 2017, management decided not to renew the lease on the Israeli manufacturing laboratory and to
wind down the Israel operations and move manufacturing to North America. It was also decided that a
contract manufacturer would be retained to provide the laboratory manufacturing services.
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On February 22, 2018 it was announced that Hemostemix signed a Manufacturing Agreement with Aspire
Health Science, LLC (“Aspire”) which owns a FDA cGMP (Certified Good Manufacturing Practices)
facility located in Orlando, Florida. It is anticipated that having the product manufactured in Florida will
result in improved cost efficiencies and better logistics for the North American clinical trial sites.
The Manufacturing Agreement has an initial one-year term with provisions to renew for additional sixmonth extensions. Basic charges and pricing is fixed throughout the initial one-year term. In addition to
ordinary contract manufacturing provisions, the Manufacturing Agreement will also provide Hemostemix
with access to Aspire’s laboratory and personnel for research and development (“R&D”) purposes.
Hemostemix will have dedicated work space in Aspire’s Orlando lab facility throughout the term of the
Manufacturing Agreement and the freedom to conduct R&D work there at its discretion so long as it does
not interfere with Aspire’s production schedules. Any and all improvements to the Company’s preexisting technology or otherwise related to ACP-01 made pursuant to the Manufacturing Agreement are to
remain or become (upon discovery) the property of Hemostemix.
License Agreement
On February 23, 2018 the Company announced it finalized the terms of a license agreement (the “License
Agreement”) with Aspire Health Science, LLC (“Aspire”) for ACP-01. Under the terms of the License
Agreement, Aspire has the exclusive rights to use, sell and import ACP-01 in The Bahamas, Costa Rica,
the Dominican Republic, Mexico, Panama and the State of Florida for the treatment of certain approved
medical indications, namely Coronary Artery Disease (“CAD”), Peripheral Artery Disease (“PAD”), CLI,
Congestive Heart Failure (“CHF”) and such other indications as may be designated by Hemostemix from
time to time. Aspire also has related rights to manufacture ACP-01 at its Orlando, Florida facilities for
such purposes.
Hemostemix receives a percentage of sales on net sales from all revenue generated from ACP-01 in the
assigned territories. The License Agreement has an initial three (3) year term, with options for
Hemostemix to renew for additional two (2) year extensions. The agreement calls for the development of
a business plan including minimum revenue targets. The failure to achieve the minimum revenue targets
gives Hemostemix a consequential right to terminate the license(s) granted for an assigned territory or
territories.
Hemostemix will continue to maintain control of all aspects of the product(s) subject to the License
Agreement (including in particular ACP-01), manufacturing protocols, intellectual property rights, all
improvements in the related technology, as well as the use of the technology and products in terms of
specific applications. Management expects that the License Agreement will allow Hemostemix to begin
generating revenue from its technology while it continues with the Phase II CLI trial in Canada and the
United States.
As a first step towards commercialization under the License Agreement, Aspire is in late stages of
negotiating terms with The Partners Stem Cell Centre (“PSCC”) operating within The Medical Pavilion
Bahamas (“TMPB”), based in Nassau, Bahamas, to complete a Phase I Open Trial, Non-Randomized,
Single Center Study at their Nassau facility. TMPB, founded in 1990, is a private medical facility with
more than 50 full-time medical staff and international directors, including world-renowned specialists in
multiple disciplines and collaborative centres, including The Bahamas Heart Centre, The Cancer Centre
Bahamas, The Institute for Advanced Medical Procedures and the PSCC. A clinical trial for ACP-01 at
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the PSCC has been approved by the local Ministry of Health and will consist of twenty (20) heart patients
and twenty (20) CLI patients for treatment under the same clinical trial protocol applicable to the
Hemostemix Phase II clinical trial. In accordance with the License Agreement, Hemostemix will also
receive all the pertinent data collected during this trial. The data collected from the heart patients in
particular will be of significant value to Hemostemix as it builds the necessary safety and efficacy data for
ACP-01 that will allow the Company to expand into future clinical trials in Canada and the United States.
FINANCINGS
Debt Conversion
On January 25, 2017, The Company converted $1,184,000 in debt through the issuance of 6,725,000
shares of the Company. The debt conversions included (a) $644,000 in promissory notes converted at
$0.16 per share resulting in the issuance of 4,025,000 shares, (b) $500,000 of demand loans at $0.20 per
share resulting in the issuance of a further 2,500,000 shares, and (c) $40,000 owed pursuant to a Right of
First Refusal Waiver Agreement resulting in a further issuance of 200,000 shares.
Capital Raise
The Company completed a capital raising program consisting of (i) a Brokered Private Placement
(supplemented by the Non-Brokered Private Placement); (ii) a Rights Offering (iii) a $4,400,000 secured
credit transaction, and (iv) a series of shares for debt transactions (collectively, the “Financings”).
On August 25, 2017, the Company raised gross proceeds of $5,144,140 from a brokered private placement
of subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) at a price of $0.05 per Subscription Receipt. The
Company closed on the Brokered Private Placement together with a related non-brokered private
placement of Subscription Receipts pursuant to which it raised additional gross proceeds of $163,445 and
the Rights Offering which the Company raised gross proceeds of $1,063,751, for aggregate gross proceeds
from the three sources of $6,371,336. The Company issued an aggregate of 127,426,715 Subscription
Receipts, consisting of 102,882,800 pursuant to the Brokered Private Placement, 3,268,900 pursuant to the
Non-Brokered Private Placement and 21,275,015 pursuant to the Rights Offering.
On September 15, 2017, all of the Subscription Receipts were converted into 127,426,715 units (“Units”)
consisting of 127,426,715 common shares in the capital of Hemostemix and 63,713,357 transferable
warrants (each whole warrant, a “Warrant”). Each Warrant will entitle the holder thereof to purchase one
Common Share (a “Warrant Share”) at price of $0.20 for a period of 2 years from the Release Date, with
an accelerated exercise provision attached to each Warrant commencing on the day following (i) the
conversion of the applicable Subscription Receipts into Units and (ii) the expiry of any applicable hold
period on the underlying common share, stating that if, for ten consecutive trading days, the closing price
of the listed shares of the Company exceeds $1.00, then the Company may elect to accelerate the expiry
date by providing the Warrant holders, 30 days’ notice by way of a press release of the accelerated expiry
date.
The Company also issued 88,000,000 Units at a price of $0.05 per Unit pursuant to the conversion of
$4,400,000 of senior secured debt. Each Unit consisted of one common share and one half of one
Warrant. The Company also completing a series of shares for debt transactions with certain of the
Company’s creditors by issuing a total of 6,664,886 common shares to such creditors in full satisfaction of
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a total of $366,991 in trade debts and other debts payable.
In connection with the Brokered Private Placement and the Rights Offering, the Company issued a total of
7,879,961 Agent Warrants. Each Agent Warrant entitles the Agent to acquire one Unit at an exercise price
of $0.05 per Unit expiring 3 years from the date of issuance. Each Unit consists of one common share and
one-half of one warrant (“Agent’s Unit Warrants”). Each whole warrant is exercisable until September
15, 2019 at an exercise price of $0.20 per common shares and is subject to an accelerated exercise
provision attached to each commencing on the day following the expiry of any applicable hold period on
the underlying common share, stating that if, for ten consecutive trading days, the closing price of the
listed shares of the Company exceeds $1.00, then the Company may elect to accelerate the expiry date by
providing the Agent Warrant holders, 30 days written notice together with the issue of a press release of
the accelerated expiry date. On September 15, 2017, the Company granted stock options pursuant to a
management agreement. 20,767,230 stock options were granted at an exercise price of $0.05 per share and
exercisable for a period of five years from the date of grant. These stock options were granted pursuant to
the Company’s existing incentive stock option plan and as such be subject to the general terms of the
Option Plan and all applicable policies of the TSX Venture Exchange, including without limitation those
that provide for maximum issuances to single participants under the Option Plan in any 12-month period.
OUTLOOK
With the successful conclusion of the capital raise program (see Financings) and the organizational
restructuring being substantially complete, the Company is focused on execution of the Phase II clinical
trials for CLI.
As the Phase II clinical trial for CLI progresses, management believes that an interim analysis will
reinforce the safety record of the therapy, as shown in previous Phase I trials, and provide a clear view of
the effectiveness of the therapy. Based on our current planning, the interim analysis should be available in
the first half of 2019.
In addition to ACP-01 utility as a therapy for CLI, management believes that ACP-01 can be a safe and
effective therapy for certain heart related damage. Over 400 heart patients have received the therapy in
previous open trials and in compassionate care situations with promising curative effects for patients.
Management is in the early stages of compiling data and reviewing information with the goal of applying
for a FDA-approved clinical trial for one or more specific heart conditions. If this review reveals
promising efficacy, then the Company would like to make a submission for a clinical trial to the FDA
before the end of the 3rd quarter of 2018.
In addition to the Licensing Agreement the Company announced earlier this year, the Company intends to
seek other commercialization partners for its leading therapy and development partners for accelerating
clinical development of novel therapies for significant and unmet medical needs.
Management has developed plans to continue research and development, including improvements in the
manufacturing process for ACP-01 and development of novel therapies. It is important to continue to
research and develop therapeutic products to diversify the clinical pipeline and increase the potential value
of the Company. The Company has other proprietary cell products and it will continue to advance these
through its pipeline with research, development and non-human testing towards first use in humans. The
Company’s intellectual property broadly covers synergetic cell populations, myocardial cell precursors
(“MCPs”), and neural cell precursors “(NCPs”). Management has also developed specific plans to
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continue research and development for improvements in efficiency and cost of the manufacturing process
for ACP-01.

CONSOLIDATION AND PRESENTATION
Discontinued Operations
On October 1, 2017 the Company ceased its operations in Israel and outsourced its clinical trial activities
to a third-party manufacturer located in North America. The operating results of its activities in Israel have
been presented as discontinued operations.
Functional and Presentation Currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company's
functional and presentation currency. Each subsidiary determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The
functional currency of the subsidiaries is Canadian dollars. Transactions denominated in foreign currency
(other than the functional currency) are recorded on initial recognition at the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction. After initial recognition, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
are translated at the end of each reporting period into the functional currency at the exchange rate at that
date. Exchange differences, other than those capitalized to qualifying assets or recorded in equity in
hedging transactions, are recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost
in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and measured at fair value are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR
The following table provides selected consolidated financial information for the Company as at and for the
years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.
As at or for the year
December 31, 2017
Total $

As at or for the year
December 31, 2016
Total $

Current assets
Total assets

5,302,488
5,302,489

125,273
227,111

Total liabilities
Total expenses from continuing operations

464,792
3,510,992

3,689,337
2,756,122

Net loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of
tax

(3,450,837)

(2,730,092)

(484,074)

(1,054,420)

Net loss and comprehensive loss

(3,934,911)

(3,784,512)

From continuing operations

(0.02)

(0.04)

From discontinued operations

(0.00)

(0.02)

Basic and diluted loss per share:

Current and Total Assets increased year over year as a result of completion of the financing and
conversion of the Subscription Receipts on September 15, 2017 resulting in higher cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments.
Total Liabilities decreased during the year over year as result of converting demand notes, promissory
notes and the convertible debenture outstanding at December 31, 2016 into shares during 2017.
Furthermore, various legal matters were accrued for during 2016 that were settled prior to the end of 2017.
Net loss from continuing operations increased compared to the prior year as a result of increased
professional fees in regard to several legal settlements, due diligence activity and restructuring activity and
an annual and special meeting task force as well as general accounting and legal costs associated with the
various financings and debt settlements. In addition, non-cash expenses such as stock compensation and
accretion expense related to the convertible promissory notes and debentures increased as the amounts
were fully accreted before being converted to shares.
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax decreased during the year as a result of a number
management decisions. First, with the clinical trial postponed there was no research and development
performed in 2017 as compared to 2016. Furthermore, staff used up previously accrued vacation and the
decision was eventually made to layoff the remaining staff and terminate the laboratory lease at the
beginning of the 4th quarter in 2017.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Annual Comparison of Expenses
from Continuing Operations
Research and development consulting fees

Year
ended
Dec 31, 2017

Year
ended
Dec 31, 2016

60,262

178,643

Consultant fees

850,193

1,348,725

Stock compensation expense

454,261

-

Lease and office maintenance

68,845

Professional fees
Travel expenses
Accretion expense

Dollar
Percentage
Increase
Increase
(decrease)
(decrease)
(118,381)
-66%
(498,532)

-37%

454,261

100%

232,105

(163,260)

-70%

1,294,009

817,048

476,961

58%

82,659

37,386

45,273

121%

979,833

74,440

905,393

1216%
-489%
-6822%

Foreign exchange loss (gain)

(74,676)

19,188

(93,864)

Interest expense, net

158,987

2,297

156,690

Loss on settlement of debt
Change in fair value of derivative
Loss from continuing operations
Recovery for income taxes
Net loss from continuing operations

411,944

-

(775,325)
(3,510,992)

46,290
(2,756,122)

411,944

100%

(821,615)

-1775%

(754,870)

27%

(60,155)

(26,030)

(34,125)

131%

(3,450,837)

(2,730,092)

(720,745)

26%

Expenses from continuing operations relate to the North American activities of the Company, excluding Israel operations.
2016 figures have been restated to classify Israel expenses as discontinued operations.

Analysis of expenses from Continuing Operations
Research and development consulting fees for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $60,262
compared to $178,643 for the year ended December 31, 2016, a decrease of $118,381 or 66%. During
March of 2016 there was a temporary postponement of our clinical trial and our relationship with our then
CRO was terminated. Although the clinical trial was postponed, the Company paid for costs relating to
the trial up until the middle of the year. In contrast, during 2017 the Company evaluated various
alternatives for continuing the clinical trial with several trial sites and selected a new CRO in the fall of
2017. During the year no patients were treated in our clinical trials.
Consultant fees for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $850,193 compared to $1,348,725 for the
year ended December 31, 2016 representing a decrease of 498,532 or 37%. This decrease is due to a
reduction in the number of consulting personnel and their associated costs as a part of the re-organization.
Stock compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $454,261 compared to $Nil for
the year ended December 31, 2016 representing an increase of 454,261 or 100%. This increase resulted
from the issuance of 20,767,230 stock options during 2017 which were granted with respect to an existing
management agreement. The estimated fair value of the granted options using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model will be expensed over the vesting period of three years for which $454,261 has recorded as
an expense during the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Lease and office maintenance for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $68,845 compared to $232,105
for the year ended December 31, 2016 representing a decrease of $163,260 or 70%. Lease and office
maintenance include office administration costs including rent, courier and utilities as well as investor
relations and communications costs. In 2016 outside investor relations consulting was obtained to assist
with the dissident action, these consulting fees were not needed in 2017.
Professional fees for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $1,294,009 compared to $817,048 for the
year ended December 31, 2016, representing an increase of $476,961 or 58%. Included in 2017
professional fees were accounting and legal fees related to several legal settlements, due diligence activity
and restructuring activity and an annual and special meeting task force as well as general accounting and
legal costs associated with the financing events and debt settlement transactions. Most of these legal costs
were one-time costs relating to this restructuring process resulting in a large increase during this fiscal
period.
Travel expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $82,659 compared to $37,386 for the year
ended December 31, 2016, an increase of $45,273 or 121%. This increase resulted from additional travel
related to raising capital.
Accretion expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $979,833 compared to $74,440 for the year
ended 2016, representing an increase of $905,393 or 1216%. The accretion expense in 2017 represents
amortization of the discount on the $644,000 convertible promissory notes payable and on the $1,000,000
convertible debenture which were issued on September 2, 2016, as well as the conversion feature of the
secured credit transaction. The promissory notes were converted to equity on January 25, 2017 and the
debenture was converted on September 15, 2017. Upon conversion, interest was fully accreted up to the
face value of the debt. Included in accretion expense is $65,492 related to the promissory notes payable
and $687,341 related to the debenture in 2017, and $227,000 of accretion related to the secured credit
transaction.
Foreign exchange loss (gain) for the year ended December 31, 2017 was a gain of $74,676 compared to a
loss of $19,188 for the year ended December 31, 2016, a decrease of $93,864 or 489%. The gain in 2017
relates to an unrealized foreign exchange gain from the large cash balance denominated in US currency at
December 31, 2017. In the same period in 2016, the loss was due to the weakening of the CDN dollar
during 2016.
Interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $158,987 compared to $2,297 for the
year ended December 31, 2016, an increase of $156,690. The Company incurred $177,896 interest on the
advances from the demand loan facility during 2017. The amount was partially offset by interest earned on
proceeds held in escrow from financings completed in September 2017 and interest earned on short term
investments held from September 15, 2017 to December 31, 2017.
Loss on settlement of debt for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $411,944 compared to $Nil for the
year ended December 31, 2016, an increase of $411,944 or 100%. Several vendors agreed to receive
payment in shares as opposed to cash to settle the amounts that were owing to them. In between the time
the Company issued the debt settlement agreements for signature and the time that the shares were issued,
the trading price of the Company’s shares increased. A loss on settlement of debt was recorded
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representing the difference between the share price in the debt settlement agreements and the current
trading price on September 15, 2017. The fair value of the equity on the date of conversion of $866,435
was recorded as share capital and the Company recorded a loss on settlement of debt in the amount of
$499,444 representing the difference between the fair value of the equity issued and the actual value of the
debt of $366,991 on the date of conversion. This was offset by a gain of $87,500 on the settlement of the
demand loans which were converted in January 2017, given a difference between agreed upon price and
the fair value of the shares on the date of settlement.
Change in the fair value of derivative was a gain of $775,325 for the year ended December 31, 2017
compared to a loss of $46,290 for the year ended December 31, 2016, a decrease of $821,615 or 1775%.
The gain in 2017 and the loss in 2016 relates to the $1,000,000 convertible debenture issued as part of the
private placement on September 2, 2016. The conversion feature o the debenture has been recorded as a
derivative liability as the exercise price may be adjusted upon the issuance of deemed issuance of common
shares at a price less than the conversion price.
The derivative liability was valued at $775,325 as at December 31, 2016. At September 15, 2017,
pursuant to the secured credit transaction and conversion of the debenture, the value of the derivative
liability of $775,325 was transferred from derivative liability to share capital, and the Company recorded a
change in fair value of derivative liability as a gain of $775,325 in its statement of loss.
The change in derivative liability of $46,290 representing a loss in the statement of loss for the year ended
December 31, 2016 represents the change in value of the derivative liability from $729,035 at date of
issuance of September 2, 2016 to $775,325 at December 31, 2016.
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RESULTS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The following table summarizes the Israel activities classified as discontinued operations for the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:
Annual Comparison of Expenses
from Discontinued Operations

Year
ended
Dec 31, 2017

Year
ended
Dec 31, 2016

Dollar
Percentage
Increase
Increase
(decrease)
(decrease)
(435,280)
-67%

Research and development salaries and benefits

214,660

649,940

Lease and office maintenance

134,456

231,542

(97,086)

-42%

32,200

100,971

(68,771)

-68%

-

1,909

(1,909)

-100%

Depreciation

28,671

38,556

(9,885)

-26%

Write down of equipment

73,166

-

73,166

100%

Foreign exchange loss (gain)

(1,436)

(17,224)

109%

Professional fees
Travel expenses

Interest expense, net
Loss from discontinued operations
Income tax expense
Net loss from discontinued operations

15,788
(21)

1,127

-5367%

(1,038,685)

555,862

-54%

(14,484)

-92%

570,346

-54%

1,106
(482,823)
1,251
(484,074)

15,735
(1,054,420)

Expenses from discontinued operations relate to the Israel operations of the Company.
2016 figures have been restated to classify Israel expenses as discontinued operations.

Research and development salaries and benefits for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $214,660
compared to $649,940 for the year ended December 31, 2016, a decrease of $435,280 or 67%. This
decrease resulted from the temporary postponement of the clinical trial in March 2016, having staff use up
previously accrued vacation and ultimately the decision to discontinue operations and layoff staff.
Lease and office maintenance for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $134,456 compared to
$231,542 for the year ended December 31, 2016 representing a decrease of $97,086 or 42%. Lease and
office maintenance include rent for leased space for the labs in Israel, costs for supplies and materials,
equipment rental, courier and utilities, communications and office administration. This cost decreased
mainly as a result of the decision to not renew the lease space at the beginning of Q4 2017.
Professional fees for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $32,200 compared to $100,971 for the year
ended December 31, 2016, representing a decrease of $68,771 or 68%. Due to lower activity levels and
the ultimate decision to discontinue operations, fewer hours were required from our accounting
professionals.
Travel expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $Nil compared to $1,909 for the year ended
December 31, 2016, a decrease of $1,909 or 100%. This decrease is due to reduced operations and
therefore no travelling was required during the year for any of the staff.
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Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $28,671 compared to $38,556 for the year ended
2016, representing a decrease of $9,885 or 26%. In fiscal 2017, depreciation expense represents nine
months of depreciation until October 1, 2017 when operations in Israel ceased, compared to a full twelve
months in 2016.
Write down of equipment for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $73,166 compared to $Nil during
the year ended 2016. On October 1, 2017 with the cessation of the Israeli operations, equipment with a net
book value of $73,166 was written down to zero.
Foreign exchange loss (gain) for the year ended December 31, 2017 was a gain of $1,436 compared to a
loss of $15,788 for the year ended December 31, 2016, a decrease of $17,224 or 109%. The reduction in
foreign exchange is as a result of decreased activity during the year that was denominated in a foreign
currency.
Interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $1,106 compared to a gain of $21 for
the year ended December 31, 2016, an increase of $1,127. Interest charges were incurred in 2017 as the
Company made payment arrangements with various vendors.
Income tax expense was $1,251 for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $15,735 for the year
ended December 31, 2016 a decrease of $14,484 or 92%. Due to the temporary postponement of the
clinical trials followed by the decision to close the Israeli laboratory no revenues were earned on research
and development thus reducing the amount of tax payable.
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following table sets out the quarterly results for the most recently completed 8 quarters:
2017 (unaudited)

Dec 31

Net loss ($)
Weighted average
# of shares

Loss per share ($)

(921,210)

296,874,720

(0.003)

Sept 30

(1,955,141)

111,605,053

(0.02)

June 30

(509,801)

74,208,397

(0.01)

2016 (unaudited)

Mar 31

(548,759)

73,758,953

(0.01)

Dec 31

(858,165)

67,858,119

(0.01)

Sept 30

(1,602,949)

67,528,119

(0.02)

June 30

(636,762)

67,154,786

(0.01)

Mar 31

(686,636)

67,098,119

(0.01)
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Hemostemix is a development stage company that to date, has had no net earnings, minimal revenue and
negative operating cash flows, which are expected to continue in the foreseeable future. As a
development stage company, we require significant additional investment for research and development,
manufacturing, clinical testing and regulatory submissions prior to commercialization. Since inception,
we have financed our cash requirements primarily through issuances of equity and debt securities. Our
ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon obtaining additional investment capital and grant
monies.
Based on the foregoing, we will continue to pursue various funding opportunities, however, no assurances
can be made that we will be successful in raising additional investment capital, to continue as a going
concern. If we are not able to raise capital we will have to reduce our cash requirements by eliminating or
deferring spending on research, development and corporate activities.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, there was a net cash outflow from operating activities of
$3,213,240 compared to a net cash outflow of $2,690,215 for the year ended December 31, 2016, an
increase of $523,025.
Expressed in tabular form, the decrease in the net cash used for operations is as follows:
Increase in net loss from continuiing operations for the year

(720,745)

Increase in stock compensation expense

454,261

Increase in accretion expense

905,393

Increase in interest expense

172,390

Loss on settlement of debt

411,944

Change in fair value of derivative

(821,615)

Professional fees reimbursed in secured credit transaction

1,020,905

Deferred income tax recovery
Purchase of short term investments
Change in other receivables and prepaid expenses
Change in HST receivable
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Change in income taxes payable
Cashflow from discontinued operations
Increase in the net cash used for operations

(34,125)
(1,254,659)
(45,640)
55,621
(1,297,969)
(2,413)
633,627
(523,025)
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As at December 31, 2017 the Company had working capital of $4,837,696 compared to a working capital
deficit of $3,251,405 at December 31, 2016, resulting in an increase in working capital of $8,089,101.
This higher working capital is a result of;
1) An increase in cash and cash equivalents of $3,923,869;
2) An increase in short term investments of $1,254,659
3) An increase in HST receivable of $11,073;
4) A decrease in other receivables and prepaid expenses of 12,386
5) A decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $1,053,248;
6) A decrease in income taxes payable of $4,805;
7) A decrease of demand notes payable of $500,000;
8) A decrease of convertible promissory notes payable of $578,508;
9)

A decrease of derivative liability of $775,325.

During 2017 the Company completed a series of financing transactions, including the conversion of debts
into common shares, which improved its working capital position. On January 25, 2017, the Company
settled $1,144,000 of debt through the issuance of 6,525,000 shares, and also settled $40,000 owed
pursuant to a Right of First Refusal Waiver Agreement through the issuance of 200,000 shares.
In January 2017, the Company also secured a credit facility. During the period January 1, 2017 to
September 15, 2017, a total of $1,250,000 in funding was advanced against this facility.
The following financing transactions occurred:
As part of the private placement transactions which closed on August 25, 2017, the Company issued
102,882,800 Subscription Receipts at an issue price of $0.05 per Subscription Receipt for gross proceeds
of $5,144,140 pursuant to the Brokered Private Placement. In addition, the Company issued 3,268,900
Subscription Receipts at an issue price of $0.05 per Subscription Receipt for gross proceeds of $163,445
pursuant to the non-brokered private placement.
On September 15, 2017, all of these Subscription Receipts were converted into a total of 102,882,800
units (“Units”). Each Unit consisted of one common share and one half of one share purchase warrant.
Each whole purchase warrant is exercisable into a further common share at an exercise price of $0.20 for a
period of 2 years from the date of issuance, subject to an acceleration clause, the total gross proceeds
raised pursuant to the brokered and non-brokered private placements was $5,307,585.
In connection with a Rights Offering, the Company raised gross proceeds of $1,063,751 through the
issuance of 21,275,000 Subscription Receipts at an issue price of $0.05 per Subscription Receipt. On
September 15, 2017 all of these Subscription Receipts were converted into Units.
Completion of a secured credit transaction consisting of converting its senior secured debt into equity.
Pursuant to this transaction, 88,000,000 Units were issued at $0.05 per Unit to settle $4,400,000 of debt.
As part of this secured credit transaction, the advances totaling $1,250,000 under the secured credit
facility and the secured debenture of $1,000,000 were fully settled.
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Finally, the Company completed a series of shares for debt transactions with certain of the Company’s
creditors by issuing 6,664,886 common shares for settlement of $366,991 in debt.
Warrants
The Company issued a total of 107,713,357 share purchase warrants, aggregating 51,441,400 pursuant to
the brokered private placement, 1,634,450 pursuant to the non-brokered private placement, 10,637,507
pursuant to the rights offering and 44,000,000 pursuant to the secured credit transaction. Each warrant
entitles the holder to purchase one common share at price of $0.20 for a period of 2 years from the
issuance date, with an accelerated exercise provision attached to each warrant commencing on the day
following the issue date and the expiry of any hold period on the underlying common share, ,stating that
if, for ten consecutive trading days, the closing price of the listed shares of the Company exceeds $1.00,
then the Company may elect to accelerate the expiry date by providing the warrant holders 30 days’ notice
by way of a press release of the accelerated expiry date.
In addition, in connection with the Brokered Private Placement and the Rights Offering respectively, the
Company issued 7,879,961 Agent Warrants. Each Agent Warrant entitles the Agent to acquire one Unit at
an exercise price of $0.05 per Unit for a period of 3 years from the issuance date. Each Unit consists of
one common share and one-half of one warrant (“Agent’s Unit Warrants”). Each whole Agent’s Unit
Warrant is exercisable into a further common share at an exercise price of $0.20 until September 2019,
subject to an accelerated exercise provision commencing on the day following the expiry of any
applicable hold period on the underlying common share, stating that if, for ten consecutive trading days,
the closing price of the listed shares of the Company exceeds $1.00, then the Company may elect to
accelerate the expiry date by providing the holders 30 days written notice together with the issue of a
press release of the accelerated expiry date.
Share Options
The Company granted 20,767,230 stock options at an exercise price of $0.05 per share and exercisable for
a period of five years from the date of issuance pursuant to a management agreement. These options were
granted pursuant to the Company’s existing incentive stock option plan and as such be subject to the
general terms of the Option Plan and all applicable policies of the TSX Venture Exchange, including
without limitation those that provide for maximum issuances to single participants under the Option Plan
in any 12-month period. In addition, during the year 1,800,000 share options at a price of $0.10 expired or
were cancelled, and 200,000 share options at $0.10 were exercised for proceeds of $20,000.
Outstanding Share Data
As at December 31, 2017, the number of issued and outstanding shares was 296,874,720 (December 31,
2016 – 67,858,119). A total of 731,934 Agent’s Warrants were exercised in 2018 resulting in the issuance
of 731,934 common shares and 365,967 share purchase warrants. As at April 30, 2018 the number of
shares issued and outstanding was 297,606,654.
As at December 31, 2017, the Company had 21,437,230 share purchase options outstanding (December
31, 2016 – 2,670,000). Subsequent to the end of the year, 6,300,000 options were granted to certain to
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certain directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company. As at April 30, 2018, the number
of outstanding share purchase options was 27,407,230.
As at December 31, 2017, the Company had 116,831,010 share purchase warrants outstanding (December
31, 2016 – 1,885,691). As at April 30, 2018 the number of outstanding warrants was 116,465,043.
See Subsequent events.
SEGMENTED INFORMATION RELATED TO DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The Company had two geographical segments comprising head office and general operations of
Hemostemix Inc. in Canada and its research and clinical trial activities in its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Hemostemix Ltd. in Israel. On October 1, 2017 the Company ceased its operations in Israel and moved its
clinical trial activities to North America. The operating results of its activities in Israel have been
presented as discontinued operations for 2017 and 2016.

Year ended Decenmber 31, 2016

Year ended December 31, 2017
North America
Continuing
Operations

Israel
Discontinued
Operations

Total

North America
Continuing
Operations

Israel
Discontinued
Operations

Total

Current assets

5,282,250

20,238

5,302,488

57,372

67,901

125,273

Total assets

5,282,251

20,238

5,302,489

57,373

169,738

227,111

453,065

11,727

464,792

3,175,537

201,141

3,376,678

Total liabilities
Depreciation

-

28,671

28,671

-

38,566

38,566

Write down of equipment

-

73,166

73,166

-

-

-

484,074

3,995,066

Total expenses
Income tax (recovery)
expense
Net and comprehensive
loss

3,510,992
(60,155)
3,450,837

484,074

(60,155)
3,934,911

2,756,122
(26,030)
2,730,092

1,038,685
15,735
1,054,420

3,794,807
(10,295)
3,784,512
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Refer to Note 2 in the audited annual consolidated financial statements for a detailed description of our
significant accounting policies.
STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED
The following are not expected to be adopted prior to their effective dates and are being evaluated to
determine their impact on the Company.
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments was issued by the IASB to establish principles for the financial
reporting of financial assets and liabilities, including requirements to present certain information
relating to the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of the entity’s future cash flows. This standard is
mandatorily effective from January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted. Management intends
to adopt IFRS 9 on its effective date and has not yet determined the potential impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2018 and provides new requirements for recognizing revenue. IFRS 15's core
principle is for a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to
customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. IFRS 15 sets out enhanced disclosures about revenue,
provides guidance for transactions that were not previously addressed comprehensively and improves
guidance for multiple-element arrangements. The Company intends to adopt the new Standard on
its effective date and has yet to consider the impact on its financial reporting.
IFRS 16 – Leases
IFRS 16 - Leases sets out a new model for lease accounting, replacing IAS 17. IFRS 16 will be effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Early adoption will be permitted, provided
the Company adopts IFRS 15.

COMMITEMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Contingencies
In 2015, the Company was party to a claim made by a former officer and director related to share options
held in escrow. While management reached a settlement with this individual the Company has included
the payments owing in accounts payable in the amount of $60,000 on December 31, 2016 and $nil on
December 31, 2017.
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In 2015, the Company was party to a claim made by a former officer related to salary, bonus and options.
Management settled the claim on August 12, 2016 in the amount of $170,000 which has been paid in full
as of December 31, 2017.
In 2016, the Company was party to a claim made by a former officer and a Company controlled by this
officer who has sued based on a historical consulting services agreement. The Company disputes the
amounts claimed but did not have the financial resources available to defend this litigation in the ordinary
course of business, and thus, this party has obtained a judgement in the total amount $345,539 in
December 2016. The Company finalized a full and final settlement with this party for $120,000, of which
$60,000 was paid in cash and $60,000 was settled by way of the issuance of 1,200,000 common shares at
$0.05 included in shares for debt transaction of $366,991.
Former Licensing Agreement
In 2015, the Company announced that it had formed a strategic alliance with Hemostemix Asia, Inc.
(“HEMA”), a private, independent company based in Taipei, Taiwan. The agreement covered a
manufacturing and commercial license to HEMA in Taiwan, China and South Korea. On August 29, 2016,
the Company announced that it has terminated this agreement with HEMA. HEMA initially sued the
Company over the termination of this agreement and is seeking $50,000,000 in damages.
On August 17, 2017, the Company reached an agreement HEMA to definitively resolve all outstanding
matters with HEMA including the litigation against the Company being carried on by HEMA. As part of
the agreement, the Company has agreed to pay HEMA $217,000 which was paid through the issuance of
4,340,000 common shares in the capital of the Company at $0.05 per share and is included in the shares
for debt transaction of $366,991 completed on September 15, 2017. HEMA has released all claims
against the Company. HEMA’s litigation has now been discontinued on a without costs basis and the
strategic alliance between the Company and HEMA has been terminated.
Commitments
Consulting Agreement
The Company entered an agreement with Topstone Research Inc. (“Topstone”) on September 8, 2017 to
provide clinical research. The value payment for services to Topstone in the agreement is approximately
$1.686 million to be allocated over the 28-month span of the clinical trial as the expenses are incurred. As
at December 30, 2017, the Company paid Topstone $72,400.
Management Agreement
Effective December 16, 2016, the Company entered into a Management Contractor Agreement to oversee
and manage a reorganization of the Company including the appointment of a new board of directors and
management team. The agreement has a term of two years and the contractor will be compensated based
on 15% of total operating expenses over the term of the agreement and the issuance of options to acquire
7% of the Company’s outstanding shares.
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RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions are conducted on the terms and conditions agreed to by the related parties. It is
the Company’s policy to conduct all transactions and settle all balances with related parties on market
terms and conditions.
The following includes all compensation to key management personnel:
The Company incurred $915,656 in consulting fees to the CFO of the Company and the management
contractor, who is providing a Chief Executive Officer, Chief Scientific Officer, accountant and technical
consultant among other services, during 2017. The management contractor was also reimbursed $103,819
in travel expenses during 2017. In 2016, $495,569 in consulting fees to a director and officer and two
other officers one of which is a former director). As at December 31, 2017, the Company had $116,382 in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities owing to this management company and chief financial officer
(December 31, 2016 - $194,698).
On January 25, 2017, the Company secured a credit facility providing and initial $750,000 in funding at
an annual rate of 12% compounded and payable (interest only) monthly from the company that is the
management contractor for Hemostemix. In early 2017, the management contractor assigned the demand
loan agreement and sold the related indebtedness of the Company to a company related to the
management contractor company of Hemostemix. The Company received an additional $500,000
bringing total advances to $1,250,000. On September 15, 2017, as part of the secured credit transaction,
this debt was converted into Units of the Company.
In 2016, the Company received proceeds of $1,000,000 from the issuance of a convertible debenture. The
debenture was acquired by the company that became the management contractor for Hemostemix on
December 22, 2016. In early 2017, the debenture was sold to a company related to the management
contractor company of Hemostemix. The debenture is non-interest bearing and due on September 2, 2019.
On September 15, 2017, as part of a series of the secured credit transaction, this debenture was converted
into Units of the Company.
Proceeds of $76,000 were received from the exercise of 760,000 stock options from 2 former directors of
the Company in 2016.
Proceeds of $464,000 were received through the issuance of promissory notes to directors and
shareholders during 2016.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Manufacturing Agreement
On February 22, 2018, Hemostemix announced that it has entered into a Manufacturing Agreement with
Aspire Health Science, LLC (“Aspire”) located in Orlando, Florida. The Manufacturing Agreement has
an initial one-year term with provisions to renew for additional six-month extensions. Basic charges and
pricing is fixed throughout the initial one-year term. Aspire is a related party.
License Agreement
On February 23, 2018, Hemostemix announced that it has entered into a License Agreement with Aspire
Health Science. Under the terms of the License Agreement, Aspire has the exclusive rights to use, sell
and import ACP-01 in The Bahamas, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, Mexico, Panama and the State
of Florida for the treatment of certain approved medical indications, namely Coronary Artery Disease
(CAD), Peripheral Artery Disease (PAD), CLI, Congestive Heart Failure (CHF) and such other
indications as may be designated by Hemostemix from time to time. Aspire will have related rights to
manufacture ACP-01 at its Orlando, Florida facilities for such purposes. Hemostemix will receive a
percentage on net sales from all revenue generated from ACP-01 in the assigned territories. The License
Agreement has an initial three (3) year term, with options for Hemostemix to renew for additional two (2)
year extensions. Aspire is a related party.
Exercise of Agent Warrants
On April 20, 2018 the Company received $26,643 from the exercise of 532,855 agent’s warrants issued
pursuant to the rights offering. The agent’s warrants were exercised into 532,855 common shares and
266,427 warrants.
On April 23, 2018, the Company received $9,954 from the exercise of 199,079 agent’s warrants issued
pursuant to the 2017 Private Placement offering. The agent’s warrants were exercised into 199,079
common shares and 99,539 warrants.
Expiry of Options
On April 17, 2018, 330,000 share purchase options, with and exercise price of $0.10 expired.
Granting of Options
On April 27, 2018, the Board of Directors granted 6,300,000 options pursuant to the Company’s existing
incentive stock option plan to certain directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company. The
options have an exercise price of $0.10 per common share and expire five years from the date of grant and
generally have up to one-third vesting on each of the first, second and third anniversaries from the date of
grant.
Trial Site for Phase II Clinical Trial
On April 27, 2018 the Company announced that it has entered into an agreement and has received all
approvals from the Vancouver Coastal Health Research Institute located in Vancouver, BC to be a clinical
trial site for the Company’s Phase II clinical trial for critical limb ischemia. The Company recently
announced that it received FDA approval in the United States in addition to Health Canada approval for its
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clinical trial in Canada. With the engagement of Topstone Research Inc. in September 2017, the Company
has been actively identifying and selecting qualified clinical trial sites in both Canada and the United
States. To date, over 20 facilities and institutions have been identified as having good potential to be sites
for the clinical trial. The site onboarding process is rigorous with the Company reviewing equipment,
facilities, principal investigators, the estimated number of potential patients as well as putting in place
agreements, budgets, procedures and protocols. In addition, the clinical trial sites have their own internal
protocols for review and approval of the Company’s clinical trial protocol, agreement, overall budget and
general procedures and equipment requirements.
Of the potential sites, the Company has approximately 14 clinical trial sites in various stages of the on
boarding process including 5 sites that have approved the Company’s clinical trial agreement pending
final review board or budget approvals. It is d that the clinical trial will be conducted at approximately 20
sites located throughout Canada and the United States.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS, PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING
Management has established and continues to complement a system of disclosure controls and procedures
and internal controls over financial reporting. This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance
that material information relating to the issuer and its subsidiaries are available and reported to senior
management and permits timely decisions regarding public disclosure. As of December 31, 2017, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in
Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings are effective, except as noted below, to ensure that the information
required to be disclosed in reports that are filed or submitted under Canadian Securities legislation are
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period specified in those rules.
The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are indicative of many small and growing companies.
Consequently, management has identified certain weaknesses that currently exist in the disclosure controls
and procedures including, but not limited to, the segregation of duties and expertise in specific areas of
public disclosure. The existence of these weaknesses is partially compensated for by senior management
monitoring these issues, and in the case of complex or extraordinary transactions, consulting with external
experts to advise management in their analysis and conclusions.
Throughout the year management continued to address, as required, steps to improve disclosure controls
and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. However, no specific changes to disclosure
controls and procedures were made during the period. The Company recognizes this is an ongoing and
dynamic process and continues to focus on internal controls related to financial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures and is committed to further improvements in the future.

25

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Possible Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits of the Arrangement
Hemostemix completed a “going public” transaction by way of a reverse take-over in November 2014, to
create a stronger and better positioned entity to strengthen their position in the clinical stage
biotechnology industry and to create the opportunity to realize certain benefits including, among other
things, the commercialization of the stem cell industry, increased liquidity, greater access to capital
markets and increased ability to pursue and the development and acquisition opportunities. Achieving the
benefits of this transaction depends, in part, on successfully consolidating the operations of Hemostemix
in an efficient manner. There can be no assurance that, after giving effect to the transaction,
Hemostemix will be able to realize the anticipated growth opportunities and synergies required to
achieve the anticipated benefits.
Biotech Public Market Risks
Prospects for companies in the biotechnology industry generally may be regarded as uncertain given the
nature of the industry and, accordingly, investments in biotechnology companies should be regarded as
speculative. Biotechnology research and development involves a significant degree of risk. An investor
should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below. The risks and uncertainties
described below are not an exhaustive list. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to
Hemostemix or that Hemostemix believes to be immaterial may also adversely affect Hemostemix
business. If any one or more of the following risks occur, Hemostemix business, financial condition and
results of operations could be seriously harmed. Further, if Hemostemix fails to meet the expectations of
the public market in any given period, the market price of Hemostemix Shares could decline.
Early Stage Development and Scientific Uncertainty
Hemostemix products are at an early stage of development. Significant additional investment in research
and development, product validation, technology transfer to manufacturing, production scale-up,
manufacturing, clinical testing, and regulatory submissions of such product candidates is required prior
to commercialization. There can be no assurance that any such products will actually be developed. The
development and regulatory processes may require access to raw materials and inputs which may not be
available to Hemostemix in sufficient amounts or in a timely fashion to allow Hemostemix to complete
the development or receive regulatory approval of any product or process. A commitment of substantial
time and resources is required to conduct research and clinical trials if Hemostemix is to complete the
development of any product. It is not known whether any of these product or process candidates will
meet applicable health regulatory standards and obtain required regulatory approvals, or whether such
products can be produced in commercial quantities at reasonable costs and be successfully marketed, or
if Hemostemix 's investment in any such products will be recovered through sales or royalties.
Additional Financing Requirements and Access to Capital
Hemostemix will require substantial additional funds for further research and development, planned
clinical testing, regulatory approvals, establishment of manufacturing capabilities and, if necessary, the
marketing and sale of its products. Hemostemix may attempt to raise additional funds for these purposes
through public or private equity or debt financing, collaborations with other biopharmaceutical
companies and/or from other sources. There can be no assurance that additional funding or partnership
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will be available on terms acceptable to Hemostemix and which would foster successful
commercialization of Hemostemix products.
Government Regulations
Biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies operate in a high-risk regulatory environment. The
manufacture and sale of animal and human diagnostic and therapeutic products is governed by numerous
statutes and regulations in the United States, Canada and other countries where Hemostemix intends to
market its products. The subject matter of such legislation includes approval of manufacturing facilities,
controlled research and testing procedures, review and approval of manufacturing, preclinical and
clinical data prior to marketing approval, as well as regulation of marketing activities, notably
advertising and labelling.
The process of completing clinical testing and obtaining required approvals is likely to take several years
and require the expenditure of substantial resources. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the
regulators will not require modification to any submissions which may result in delays or failure to
obtain regulatory approvals. Any delay or failure to obtain regulatory approvals could adversely affect
the ability of Hemostemix to utilize its technology, thereby adversely affecting operations. Further, there
can be no assurance that Hemostemix diagnostic product candidates will achieve levels of sensitivity and
specificity sufficient for regulatory approval or market acceptance, or that its therapeutic product
candidates prove to be safe and effective in clinical trials or receive the requisite regulatory approval.
There is no assurance that Hemostemix will be able to timely and profitably produce its products while
complying with all the applicable regulatory requirements. Foreign markets, other than the United States
and Canada, impose similar restrictions.
Hazardous Materials and Environmental Matters
Certain of Hemostemix research and development processes may involve the controlled use of hazardous
materials. Hemostemix is subject to federal, provincial and local laws and regulations governing the use,
manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of such materials and certain waste products. Although
management of Hemostemix believes that its procedures for handling and disposing of such materials
comply with the standards prescribed, the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials
cannot be completely eliminated. In the event of such an accident, Hemostemix could be held liable for
damages and such liability could exceed the resources of Hemostemix. Hemostemix is not specifically
insured with respect to this liability. Although management of Hemostemix believes that it currently
complies in all material respects with applicable environmental laws and regulations, Hemostemix may
be required to incur significant costs to comply with environmental laws and regulations in the future.
Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the operations, business or assets of Hemostemix will not be
materially adversely affected by current or future environmental laws or regulations.
Patents and Proprietary Technology
Hemostemix success will depend in part on its ability to obtain, maintain, and enforce patent rights,
maintain trade secret protection and operate without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties.
There can be no assurance that pending patent applications will be allowed, that Hemostemix will
develop additional proprietary products that are patentable, that issued patents will provide Hemostemix
with any competitive advantage or will not be challenged by any third parties, or that patents of others
will not have an adverse effect on the ability of Hemostemix to do business.
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Furthermore, there can be no assurance that others will not independently develop similar products,
duplicate any of the Hemostemix products, or design around the products patented by Hemostemix. In
addition, Hemostemix may be required to obtain licenses under patents or other proprietary rights of
third parties. No assurance can be given that any licenses required under such patents or proprietary
rights will be available on terms acceptable to Hemostemix. If Hemostemix does not obtain such licenses
it could encounter delays in introducing one or more of its products to the market, while it attempts to
design around such patents, or could find that the development, manufacturing or sale of products
requiring such licenses could be foreclosed. In addition, Hemostemix could incur substantial costs in
defending itself in suits brought against it on such patents or in suits where it attempts to enforce its own
patents against other parties.
Until such time, if ever, that patent applications are filed, the ability of Hemostemix to maintain the
confidentiality of its technology may be crucial to its ultimate possible commercial success. While
Hemostemix has adopted procedures designed to protect the confidentiality of its technology, no
assurance can be given that such arrangements will be effective, that third parties will not gain access to
Hemostemix trade secrets or disclose the technology, or that Hemostemix can meaningfully protect its
rights to its trade secrets.
Dependence on Collaborative Partners, Licensors and Others
Hemostemix activities will require it to enter into various arrangements with corporate and academic
collaborators, licensors, licensees and others for the research, development, clinical testing,
manufacturing, marketing and commercialization of its products. Hemostemix intends to attract
corporate partners and enter into additional research collaborations. There can be no assurance, however,
that Hemostemix will be able to establish such additional collaborations on favorable terms, if at all, or
that its current or future collaborations will be successful. Failure to attract commercial partners for its
products may result in Hemostemix incurring substantial clinical testing, manufacturing and
commercialization costs prior to realizing any revenue from product sales or result in delays or program
discontinuance if funds are not available in sufficient quantities.
If any collaborative partner fails to develop, manufacture, or commercialize successfully any product to
which it has rights, or any partner’s product to which Hemostemix will have rights, Hemostemix
business may be adversely affected. Failure of a collaborative partner to continue to participate in any
particular program could delay or halt the development or commercialization of products generated from
such program. In addition, there can be no assurance that the collaborative partners will not pursue other
technologies or develop alternative products either alone or in collaboration with others, including
Hemostemix competitors, as a means for developing treatments for the diseases targeted by Hemostemix
programs.
Furthermore, Hemostemix will hold licenses for certain technologies and there can be no assurance that
these licenses will not be terminated, or that they will be renewed on conditions acceptable to
Hemostemix. Hemostemix intends to negotiate additional licenses in respect of technologies developed
by other companies and academic institutions. Terms of license agreements to be negotiated may
include, inter alia, a requirement to make milestone payments, which may be substantial. Hemostemix
will also be obligated to make royalty payments on the sales, if any, of products resulting from licensed
technology and, in some instances, may be responsible for the costs of filing and prosecuting patent
applications. Should any of Hemostemix licensees breach their regulatory, clinical, operational or legal
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requirements this may impact Hemostemix reputation and/or ability to conduct its business or make
progress as anticipated.
Rapid Technological Change
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapid and substantial
technological change. There can be no assurance that developments by others will not render
Hemostemix proposed products or technologies noncompetitive, or that Hemostemix will keep pace with
technological developments. Competitors have developed or are developing technologies that could be
the basis for competitive products. Some of these products have an entirely different approach or means
of accomplishing the desired diagnostic or therapeutic effect as compared with products to be developed
by Hemostemix and could be more effective and less costly than the products to be developed by
Hemostemix. In addition, alternative forms of medical treatment may be competitive with Hemostemix
products.
Competition
Technological competition from pharmaceutical companies, biopharmaceutical companies and
universities are intense and is expected to increase. Potential competitors of Hemostemix have or may
develop product development capabilities or financial, scientific, marketing and human resources
exceeding those of Hemostemix. Competitors may develop products before Hemostemix develops its
own products, obtain regulatory approval for such products more rapidly than Hemostemix, or develop
products which are more effective than those which Hemostemix intends to develop. Research and
development by others may render Hemostemix proposed technology or products obsolete or noncompetitive or produce treatments or cures superior to any therapy developed or to be developed by
Hemostemix, or otherwise preferred to any therapy developed by Hemostemix.
Status of Healthcare Reimbursement
Hemostemix 's ability to successfully market certain diagnostic or therapeutic products may depend in
part on the extent to which reimbursement for the cost of such products and related treatments will be
available from government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other
organizations. Significant uncertainty exists as to whether newly approved healthcare products will
qualify for reimbursement. Furthermore, challenges to the price of medical products and services are
becoming more frequent. There can be no assurance that adequate third-party coverage will be available
to establish price levels, which would allow Hemostemix to realize an acceptable return on its investment
in product development.
Potential Product Liability
Pharmaceutical products involve an inherent risk of product liability claims and associated adverse
publicity. Product liability insurance is costly; availability is limited and may not be available on terms
which would be acceptable to Hemostemix, if at all. An inability to maintain sufficient insurance
coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could
prevent or inhibit the commercialization of Hemostemix 's products. A product liability claim brought
against Hemostemix, or withdrawal of a product from the market, could have a material adverse effect
upon Hemostemix and its financial condition.
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Manufacturing
Hemostemix product manufacturing is currently done at a single facility without secondary backup.
Hemostemix ability to conduct its clinical trial depends on its uninterrupted ability to manufacture product
and ship product in and out of its facility location.
Reliance on Key Personnel
Hemostemix is dependent on certain members of its management and scientific staff as well as
consultants and contractors, the loss of services of one or more of whom could adversely affect
Hemostemix. In addition, Hemostemix’s ability to manage growth effectively will require it to continue
to implement and improve its management systems and to recruit and train new employees. There can be
no assurance that Hemostemix will be able to successfully attract and retain skilled and experienced
personnel.
Lack of Product Revenues and History of Losses
To date, Hemostemix has not recorded any revenues from the sale of biopharmaceutical products.
Hemostemix expects to incur additional losses during the periods of research and development, clinical
testing, and application for regulatory approval of its product candidates. Hemostemix expects to incur
losses unless and until such time as payments from corporate collaborations, product sales and/or royalty
payments generate sufficient revenues to fund its continuing operations.
Volatility of Share Price, Absence of Dividends and Fluctuation of Operating Results
Market prices for the securities of biotechnology companies, including Hemostemix, have historically
been highly volatile. Factors such as fluctuation of Hemostemix operating results, announcements of
technological innovations, patents or new commercial products by Hemostemix or competitors, results of
clinical testing, regulatory actions, or public concern over the safety of biopharmaceutical products and
other factors could have a significant effect on the share price or trading volumes for the common shares.
Hemostemix Shares, if traded publically, may be subject to significant price and volume fluctuations and
may continue to be subject to significant price and volume fluctuations in the future. Hemostemix has
not paid dividends to date and does not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.
Conflict of Interest
Certain of the directors and senior officers of Hemostemix may, from time to time, be employed by or
affiliated with organizations which have entered into agreements with Hemostemix. As disputes may
arise between these organizations and Hemostemix, or certain of these organizations may undertake or
have undertaken research with competitors of Hemostemix, there exists the possibility for such persons
to be in a position of conflict. Any decision or recommendation made by these persons involving
Hemostemix will be made in accordance with his or her duties and obligations to deal fairly and in good
faith with Hemostemix and such other organizations. In addition, as applicable, such directors and
officers will refrain from voting on any matter in which they have a conflict of interest.
No Key Man Insurance
The Company does not currently have key man insurance in place in respect of any of its senior officers or
personnel.
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ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE ISSUERS WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT REVENUE
The Company’s main focus is to develop autologous, blood-derived cell therapies primarily for the
treatment of severe medical conditions not adequately addressed by current treatments. The Company is
currently conducting a Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with critical limb ischemia.
To achieve commercialization of its products, the Company must obtain regulatory approval in each
respective jurisdiction it intends to market its products. Management of Hemostemix believes it may be
possible to achieve this in certain jurisdictions on the basis of positive phase 2 clinical trial data, but in
most jurisdictions additional clinical data from larger clinical trials will be required to obtain such
approval.
Hemostemix does not currently distribute any commercial products or provide any commercial services in
any markets. Future revenues should come through royalty payments from partnering, or through direct
commercialization of its products.
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